

Government Transparency and Secrecy: An Examination of Meaning and Its Use in the Executive Branch

name redacted

Analyst in American National Government

name redacted

Analyst in Government Organization and Management

name redacted

Specialist in American National Government

name redacted

Analyst in American Federalism and Emergency Management Policy

November 14, 2012

Congressional Research Service

7-....

www.crs.gov

R42817

Summary

From the beginnings of the American federal government, Congress has required executive branch agencies to release or otherwise make available government information and records. Some scholars and statesmen, including James Madison, thought access to information—commonly referred to in contemporary vernacular as "transparency"—was an essential cornerstone of democratic governance. Today, the federal government attempts to balance access to information with the need to protect certain information (including national security information and trade secrets) in order to achieve transparency. As a consequence, access and protection are often in tension with one another.

Congress has the authority to determine what information can and should be publicly available as well as what should be protected. Congressional powers that may be used to address federal transparency include the powers to legislate, hold hearings, issue subpoenas, and control the federal budget. Statutes that grant access to government information include the Federal Register Act, the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), and the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA). Among the laws enacted to protect information are the Privacy Act and FOIA. Agencies also use security classifications, which are governed largely by executive orders, to protect certain records from public release. Records may be protected for national security purposes, personal privacy concerns, or other reasons.

The Obama Administration has undertaken its own transparency initiative, known as the Open Government Initiative, to make executive branch agencies more transparent, publicly accessible, and collaborative than they have historically been. Watchdog organizations have offered mixed reviews of the initiative's ability to promote and institute government transparency.

Transparency may be defined as the disclosure of government information and its use by the public. Transparency, under this definition, requires a public that can access, understand, and use the information it receives from the federal government. This report first assesses the meaning of transparency and discusses its scholarly and practical definitions. It also provides an analysis of the concept of transparency, with a focus on federal government transparency in the executive branch.

This report subsequently examines the statutes, initiatives, requirements, and other actions that make information more available to the public or protect it from public release. It also examines transparency and secrecy from the standpoint of how the public accesses government information, and whether the release of government data and information may make operation of the federal government more or, counter-intuitively, less transparent. Finally, this report analyzes whether existing transparency initiatives are effective in reaching their stated goals.

Contents

Introduction	1
What Is Transparency?	3
Definitions	3
Measures	4
Transparency and Secrecy	5
Congressional and Other Powers and Authorities Related to Transparency	9
Records Access, Meeting Access, and Transparency	
Investigations, Oversight, and Transparency	
Government Procurement and Transparency	
Obama Administration's Open Government Initiative	29
The Administration and Smart Disclosure	30
The Evolution of Transparency in the Federal Government and Its Potential Effects on Access and Participation	31
The Federal Register and Administrative Procedure Act Formalize Access	32
The Freedom of Information Act and Post Hoc Access to Information	
The Federal Advisory Committee Act and Direct Participation	33
The Open Government Directive and Attempts at Proactive Transparency	
Policymaking, Outside Influence, and Public Participation	35
Contacts	
Author Contact Information	36
Acknowledgments	36
Key Policy Staff	36

Introduction

From the inception of the American federal government, Congress has required executive branch agencies to make certain information and records publicly available to make the actions and information of the government transparent to the public. Some scholars and statesmen, including James Madison, described information access as an essential cornerstone of democratic governance. In an August 4, 1822, letter to William T. Barry, Madison wrote,

A popular Government without popular information, or the means of acquiring it, is but a Prologue to a Farce or a Tragedy; or perhaps both. Knowledge will forever govern ignorance: And a people who mean to be their own Governors, must arm themselves with the power which knowledge gives.²

At the same time, Congress has protected other information from public release. Access to government actions and information is often in tension with information protection.³ Certain government actions and records are protected from public release for, among other reasons, national security and personal privacy reasons.⁴

President George Washington, in a March 1796 speech in the House of Representatives, for example, refused to provide the House with a copy of the instructions to the Minister of the United States in the Treaty with the King of Great Britain, sending the chamber a message that read as follows:

[t]he nature of foreign negotiations requires caution; and their success might often depend on secrecy; and even, when brought to a conclusion, a full disclosure of all the measures, demands, or eventual concessions which may have been proposed or contemplated would be extremely impolitic: for this might have a pernicious influence on future negotiations; or produce immediate inconveniences, perhaps danger and mischief, in relation to other Powers.⁵

¹ Mr. Barry served at various periods as a U.S. Representative, a state senator, and the U.S. Postmaster General. For more information on Mr. Barry, see The Miller Center on Public Affairs at the University of Virginia, American President, An Online Reference Resource, "William T. Barry (1829-1835): U.S. Postmaster General," http://millercenter.org/academic/americanpresident/jackson/essays/cabinet/181.

² James Madison, Letters and Other Writings of James Madison, Fourth President of the United States, vol. 3 (Philadelphia, PA: J.B. Lippincott and Co., 1867), p. 276.

³ Although transparency and information protection are often discussed as being in tension, they can also work in partnership. Scholar Thomas S. Blanton, for example, argues that government openness can lead to better national security. He cites examples like the capture of the Unibomber after the publication of his manifesto in various newspapers to demonstrate how openness can lead to a more secure nation. See Thomas S. Blanton, "National Security and Open Government in the United States: Beyond the Balancing Test," in *Transparency and Secrecy: A Reader Linking Literature and Contemporary Debate*, ed. Suzanne J. Piotrowski (Lanham, MD: Lexington Books, 2010), p. 26.

⁴ There are a variety of definitions for the term "national security." In this case, *national security* is defined as the "national defense or foreign relations of the United States." This definition is taken from President Barack H. Obama, "Executive Order 13526, Classified National Security Information," December 29, 2009, 75 *Federal Register* 707, Section 6.1, January 5, 2010. "Personal privacy" refers to the protection of an individual's personally identifiable information, including his or her Social Security identification, age, or other personal information. This definition is taken from U.S. Department of Justice, *Department of Justice Guide to the Freedom of Information Act*, Exemption 6, p. 424, at http://www.justice.gov/oip/foia_guide09/exemption6.pdf.

⁵ U.S. Congress, House, *Annals of Congress*, 4th Cong., 1st sess., March 1796 (Washington: Gales and Seaton, 1849), p. (continued...)

Among the congressional powers available to enforce federal transparency and to protect certain other materials from public release are the powers to legislate, hold hearings, issue subpoenas, and control the federal budget. Congress has, from time to time, used its legislative powers to create and amend laws that affect the public's access to government operations and records. Among these laws are the Federal Register Act, the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), the Federal Advisory Committee Act (FACA), the Government In the Sunshine Act, and the Privacy Act.

Although there are laws that affect access to government information, there is no single definition for what constitutes transparency—nor is there an agreed upon way to measure it. Social scientists and practitioners have offered a variety of definitions for transparency; among them are "active disclosure" and "the publicizing of incumbent policy choices." These two definitions convey that transparency is linked to the release of information to an interested public. *Transparency*, however, may be defined as not only the disclosure of government information, but the access, comprehension, and use of it by the public. Scholars and private organizations have attempted to measure transparency by surveying citizens and journalists on their perceptions of government openness as well as by examining executive branch implementation of FOIA. These measures have sometimes relied on public perceptions of transparency or journalists' accounts of information access. Each definition and measurement of transparency has strengths and weaknesses.

Attempts to make the executive branch more transparent require Congress, the public, and the executive branch itself to ensure that appropriate information is released *and* that the information can be used and analyzed. Users of such released information, therefore, must have the time and the tools to interpret and understand the data in order to hold government accountable.

Congress plays an active role in defining the balance between transparency and secrecy in American democratic society. While openness in government is considered essential to democratic operations and deliberations, secrecy can protect Americans from security threats, privacy invasion, and economic harm. As agencies increasingly use new technologies to collect, maintain, and release federal records and data, Congress may have an interest in ensuring that the public has the ability to find and use the data properly. Additionally, Congress may choose to determine whether agencies are inappropriately withholding documents or improperly releasing sensitive materials.

Accordingly, this report assesses scholarly and practical definitions of transparency and provides an analysis of the concept of transparency, with a focus on transparency in the executive branch of the federal government. It also examines how the release of large amounts of public data may make the operations of government more or, counter-intuitively, less transparent. Releasing vast amounts of raw data, for example, could make it difficult for the public to find the information they seek or to understand how to analyze data they find.

760.

^{(...}continued)

⁶ Richard W. Oliver, What is Transparency? (New York: The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc., 2004), p. 2.

⁷ Justin Fox, "Government Transparency and Policymaking," paper prepared for the Midwest Political Science Association Annual Convention, Chicago, IL, March 14, 2005, p. 2.

This report examines statutes, initiatives, and other items that seek to make information more available to the public as well as those that seek to protect certain information from release to the public. This report examines transparency and secrecy from the standpoint of how the public historically has and can currently access government information. It also explores the statutes and policies in place to ensure the protection of certain information from public release. The report then describes existing powers, authorities, and initiatives that promote transparency or protect federal records from public release. Finally, this report analyzes whether existing transparency initiatives are effective in reaching their stated goals.

What Is Transparency?

As already noted, there is no single definition of what constitutes transparency or method for measuring it. For the purposes of this report, *transparency* comprises not only the disclosure of government information, but also the access, comprehension, and use of this information by the public. Transparency, as such, requires a public that can acquire, understand, and use the information that it receives from the federal government. This concept of transparency, however, is not the only possible designation of the term.

Definitions

Richard W. Oliver, in his book *What is Transparency?* wrote that transparency has come to mean "active disclosure." Other scholars have defined government transparency as "the publicizing of incumbent policy choices," and "the availability and increased flow to the public of timely, comprehensive, relevant, high-quality and reliable information concerning government activities."

In addition to scholarly definitions of transparency, private organizations that serve as government watchdog groups have put forth their own meanings. Transparency International, a global civil society organization that seeks to fight government corruption, defines transparency as "a principle that allows those affected by administrative decisions, business transactions or charitable work to know not only the basic facts and figures but also the mechanisms and processes." The organization goes on to state that "[i]t is the duty of civil servants, managers and trustees to act visibly, predictably and understandably."

The Sunlight Foundation, a nonprofit organization "committed to improving access to government information by making it available online," does not offer a particular definition of transparency. Instead, the foundation delineates 10 principles of government openness that

⁸ Richard W. Oliver, What is Transparency? (New York: The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc., 2004), p. 2.

⁹ Justin Fox, "Government Transparency and Policymaking," p. 2.

¹⁰ David Ferranti et al., *How to Improve Governance: A New Framework for Analysis and Action* (Washington, DC: Brookings Institution, 2009), p. 7.

¹¹ Transparency International: The Global Coalition Against Corruption, "faq," at http://www.transparency.org/news_room/faq/corruption_faq.

¹² The Sunlight Foundation, "The Sunlight Foundation uses cutting-edge technology and ideas to make government transparent and accountable," at http://sunlightfoundation.com/about/.

provide access to data.¹³ These principles are "completeness, primacy, timeliness, ease of physical and electronic access, machine readability, non-discrimination, use of commonly owned standards, licensing, permanence and usage costs."¹⁴

Measures

A number of different approaches have been used to attempt to measure or quantify transparency or its effects. Some scholars and government practitioners may argue that defining transparency is difficult, but they understand it in practice. Transparency International, for example, surveys a variety of people and institutions on their perceptions of transparency in selected nations to create a "Corruption Perceptions Index." The index supposes that perceptions of corruption serve as a proxy for transparency in government. Though the two may be related, it is unclear whether corruption or perceptions of corruption provide a reliable measure of a particular government's efforts to be transparent.

Global Integrity, an independent, non-profit organization that tracks "governance and corruption trends around the world," uses journalists' reports and structured surveys to create its Global Integrity report, which measures "governance and corruption." Like the Corruption Perceptions Index mentioned above, however, this measure might capture only perceptions of openness and perceptions of corruption, without capturing a nation's efforts to be transparent, or reach acceptable levels of transparency.

Scholar Justin Fox, who studied levels of transparency within the United States, took the approach of examining the integration of FOIA's¹⁷ principles into the operations of executive branch agencies. He examined whether FOIA was incorporated into each agency's performance plan, how much agencies spent on implementing FOIA, and whether the agency established performance measures for implementation of FOIA. Mr. Fox's research captured how agencies respond to information requests, but did not address proactive transparency—a practice in which agencies release records, datasets, or other information without it having to be requested from someone outside the agency. Proactive, sometimes called pre-emptive, transparency would eliminate the need that information be requested because the information would already be publicly available. A person who submits a FOIA request, however, may need knowledge and skills unique to that request. For example, the requester must know that a document exists in order to request it. The requester must also know how to properly draft a FOIA request and to

1

¹³ The Sunlight Foundation, "Ten Principles for Opening Up Government Information," at http://sunlightfoundation.com/policy/documents/ten-open-data-principles/.

¹⁴ Ibid.

 $^{^{\}rm 15}$ Global Integrity: Independent Information on Governance and Corruption, "Homepage," at http://www.globalintegrity.org/.

¹⁶ Global Integrity, "The Global Integrity Report: Methodology," at http://report.globalintegrity.org/methodology.cfm/. To create the report, Global Integrity uses qualitative journalistic reports on information access and merges the reports with survey analysis that includes a set of questions related to openness and corruption. Among the questions asked is, "Is the right of access to information effective?"

¹⁷ FOIA enables any person to request, without explanation or justification, access to existing, identifiable, unpublished, executive branch agency records. FOIA also provides exemptions for certain records, prohibiting their release. FOIA will be discussed in greater detail later in this report. Additional information about FOIA can also be found in CRS Report R41933, *Freedom of Information Act (FOIA): Background and Policy Options for the 112th Congress*, by (name redacted).

¹⁸ Justin Fox, "Government Transparency and Policymaking."

where they should address the request. Requesters also must understand limitations on certain information requests, including the possible denial of a request based on the government's claims that the release of a record or portion of a record could endanger national security, invade an individual's privacy, or cause harm to the economy. Mr. Fox's measure of transparency assumes FOIA requesters already know what records are available as well as how to use those records if they are released. His study, therefore, may not measure U.S. transparency, and instead may measure how effective the public is in using FOIA—a single tool of federal transparency.

Scholar Archun Fung examines "transparency systems," or "government mandates that require corporations or other organizations to provide the public with factual information about their products and practices." The effectiveness of these systems, Mr. Fung argues, can be measured, in part, by how accessible and useful information is to the audience who receives it.

No matter how accurate or relevant new information is, it cannot provide a foundation for a successful transparency system unless it is made available at a time, place, and in a format that fits in with the way consumers, investors, employees, and home buyers make choices as information users and the way corporations, government agencies, and other organizations make decisions as information disclosers.²⁰

For Mr. Fung, therefore, transparency can only be effective "when transparency systems provide highly relevant and accessible information that users incorporate into the considerations that determine their actions." This is one of few considerations of transparency that require the public to both access *and* use information.

In a January 2012 *New York Times* news analysis, journalist Elizabeth Rosenthal reinforced this idea, arguing that disclosure of information was not the same as transparency.²²

One fundamental problem is that disclosure requirements merely get information onto the table, but themselves demand no further action. According to political theory, disclosure is both a citizen's right and a tool to ensure good government and consumer protection, because it provides information that leads to informed decisions. Instead, disclosure has often become an endpoint in the chain of responsibility, an act of compliance with the letter of the law rather than the spirit of transparency.

Transparency and Secrecy

An accessible and transparent government is one goal of a functioning democracy, but access to government information may not always be warranted or safe. Certain records may need to be kept secret by the federal government to protect national security, personal privacy, or economic

¹⁹ Archun Fung et al., *The Political Economy of Transparency: What makes disclosure policies effective?*, Ash Institute for Democratic Governance and Innovation at the John F. Kennedy School of Government, December 2004, p. 1, at http://www.innovations.harvard.edu/cache/documents/67/6784.pdf.

 ²⁰ Ibid., p. 4. Archon Fung discusses similar ideas in the following book: Archon Fung, Mary Graham, and David Weil,
 Full Disclosure: The Perils and Promise of Transparency (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2007).
 ²¹ Ibid.

²² Elizabeth Rosenthal, "I Disclose ... Nothing," *New York Times*, January 21, 2012, at http://www.nytimes.com/2012/01/22/sunday-review/hard-truths-about-disclosure.html?pagewanted=all.

security. Oftentimes, transparency and secrecy—both of which are inherent values of the American republic—are in tension with one another.

For example, James Madison, one of the Founding Fathers and a primary contributor to the American Constitution, wrote in the *Federalist Papers* about the need for government that could be controlled by the people.

If men were angels, no government would be necessary. If angels were to govern men, neither external nor internal controls on government would be necessary. In framing a government which is to be administered by men over men, the great difficulty lies in this: you must first enable the government to control the governed; and in the next place oblige it to control itself. A dependence on the people is, no doubt, the primary control on the government; but experience has taught mankind the necessity of auxiliary options.²³

Madison argued that government needed to be controlled, and the people were the most powerful tool to do so. Control over the government would come in the form of an informed citizenry.

Like Mr. Madison, Thomas Jefferson noted the importance of a vigilant citizenry in a January 16, 1787, letter to Edward Carrington.²⁴

We have the greatest opportunity the world has ever seen, as long as we remain honest—which will be as long as we can keep the attention of our people alive. If they once become inattentive to public affairs, you and I, and Congress and Assemblies, judges and governors would all become wolves.²⁵

Although access to executive branch information has been of interest to America's leaders from the Founding Fathers to the present day, certain records may require protection from public release. The meetings in Philadelphia at which the Founding Fathers drafted the Constitution, for example, were held in secret. In *The Federalist Papers*, John Jay wrote of times when secrecy can convince participants in a negotiation to be more open and frank in their discussion.

It seldom happens in the negotiation of treaties of whatever nature, but that perfect *secrecy* and immediate *dispatch* are sometimes requisite. There are cases where the most useful intelligence may be obtained, if the persons possessing it can be relieved from apprehensions of discovery.²⁶

In 2007, then-U.S. Comptroller General David M. Walker, for example, called transparency a "key to our nation's governing processes." On January 21, 2009—his first full day in office—President Obama issued an executive order that said he would commit his Administration to "an

_

²³ Publius (James Madison), "The Federalist Papers, The Federalist No. 51," *Independent Journal*, February 6, 1788, at http://www.constitution.org/fed/federa51.htm.

²⁴ Mr. Carrington was a Quartermaster General who served under General George Washington. He was also the foreman of the jury that acquitted Aaron Burr of treason. See U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, "Lieutenant Colonel Edward Carrington," at http://www.nps.gov/york/historyculture/carringtonbio.htm.

²⁵ Thomas Jefferson, *The Papers of Thomas Jefferson*, ed. Julian P. Boyd et al. (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1950), pp. 48-49.

²⁶ Publius (John Jay), "The Federalist Papers, The Federalist No. 64," *Independent Journal*, March 5, 1788; also at http://www.constitution.org/fed/federa64.htm.

²⁷ U.S. Government Accountability Office, *Government Auditing Standards*, GAO-07-731G, July 2007, p. 1, at http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d07731g.pdf.

unprecedented level of openness" and to the establishment of "a system of transparency, public participation, and collaboration." Private watchdog organizations have had mixed reviews of this initiative.

The tension between access and secrecy was typified after the public release of diplomatic cables to the *Wikileaks.org* website. ²⁹ Diplomats who fear the information they write in such cables may be released to the public may be "more cautious" about the contents. Such caution could lead to less candid transfers of information between government officials. ³⁰ Secretary of State Hillary R. Clinton called the *Wikileaks.org* release "not just an attack on America's foreign policy interests. It is an attack on the international community—the alliances and partnerships, the conversations and negotiations, that safeguard global security and advance economic prosperity." ³¹ The *Wikileaks.org* release may have made foreign diplomacy more visible in this case. The release of documents may or and may not affect how foreign officials communicate with American officials. In the future, however, diplomatic negotiations may be pushed further from public access because of the leak. Diplomats may also struggle to conduct more candid conversations with world leaders who are concerned that their conversations may be released to the public. ³² Then-Secretary of Defense Robert M. Gates, however, reportedly said that the leak would not greatly affect American diplomacy. At a November 30, 2010, press conference, Mr. Gates is reported as saying the following:

Now, I've heard the impact of these releases on our foreign policy described as a meltdown, as a game-changer, and so on. I think those descriptions are fairly significantly overwrought. The fact is, governments deal with the United States because it's in their interest, not because they like us, not because they trust us, and not because they believe we can keep secrets. Many governments—some governments deal with us because they fear us, some because they respect us, most because they need us. We are still essentially, as has been said before, the indispensable nation.³³

The federal government may claim, for example, that the release of certain information will endanger national security, violate the privacy of an individual, or affect an ongoing criminal investigation. Mr. Madison, in *Federalist 10*, had foreseen the need for certain records protections, writing that "[d]emocracies have been found incompatible with personal security or the rights of property; and have in general been as short in their lives as they have been violent in

²⁸ Executive Office of the President, "Transparency and Open Government," 74 *Federal Register* 4685, January 26, 2009. The memorandum was released on January 21, 2009, at http://www.whitehouse.gov/the_press_office/ Transparency and Open Government/.

²⁹ For example, see Michele Keleman, "Ex-Diplomats Fear Leak Will Lead To Cautious Cables," *National Public Radio: Morning Edition*, November 30, 2010, at http://www.npr.org/2010/11/30/131686336/ex-diplomats-fear-leak-will-lead-to-cautious-cables; and "Future of U.S. Ambassador to Libya Unclear," *UPI.com*, January 6, 2011, at http://www.upi.com/Top_News/US/2011/01/06/Future-of-US-ambassador-to-Libya-unclear/UPI-35871294325982/.

³⁰ Ibid.

³¹ Hillary Rodham Clinton, *Remarks to the Press on the Release of Confidential Documents*, Department of State, Washington, DC, November 29, 2010, at http://www.state.gov/secretary/rm/2010/11/152078.htm.

³² See, for example, Howard LaFranchi, "Wikileaks 'attack': How damaging to foreign relations?" November 29, 2010, at http://www.csmonitor.com/USA/Foreign-Policy/2010/1129/WikiLeaks-attack-How-damaging-to-US-foreign-relations.

³³ See, for example, Mark Memmott, "WikiLeaks' Impact On Foreign Policy 'Fairly Modest,' Gates Says," *National Public Radio*, November 30, 2010, at http://www.npr.org/blogs/thetwo-way/2010/11/30/131700348/wikileaks-impact-on-foreign-policy-fairly-modest-gates-says.

their death."³⁴ The American republic, therefore, has to balance access to government information with protection of personal and national security interests.

Max Weber, a sociologist who studied bureaucracy in the late 1800s and early 1900s, wrote extensively on public administration—with some focus on the role of public employees' expertise. According to Weber, keeping employees' expertise within the bureaucracy (as opposed to sharing expertise with outside government officials or the public) gives an agency greater autonomy and control of its mission. Federal employees may withhold information to ensure that their agency maintains control and can avoid outside, sometimes political, influence. Mr. Weber, for example, wrote the following:

Bureaucratic administration always tends to exclude the public, to hide its knowledge and action from criticism as well as it can.... In facing a parliament, the bureaucracy fights, out of a sure power instinct, every one of that institution's attempts to gain through its own means ... expert knowledge from the interested parties. Bureaucracy naturally prefers a poorly informed, and hence powerless, parliament—at least insofar as this ignorance is compatible with the bureaucracy's own interests.... The absolute monarch too, is powerless in the face of the superior knowledge of the bureaucratic expert—in a certain sense more so than any other political head. 35

Throughout American history, public access to information has ebbed and flowed. Sometimes that access has been based on the legal interpretations of individual presidential administrations.³⁶ Other times, historical context modified how the federal government maintained, protected, and released records.³⁷ For instance, one scholar argued that the importance of federal government transparency grew after World War II because of unprecedented growth in the size of the bureaucracy and the emergence of the Cold War, which created a "highly secretive national security complex."³⁸

Today, technology affects how the public interacts with the federal government as well as what information people expect from it. Increasing ubiquity of the Internet and the rise of egovernment have given the public 24-hour access to certain government information and changed some public perceptions and expectations about government operations. Some scholars have found that e-government has increased the public's trust in government by increasing access to and dissemination of records and information.³⁹

³⁴ Publius, (James Madison), "The Federalist No. 10," November 22, 1787; also at http://www.constitution.org/fed/federa10.htm.

³⁵ Max Weber, *Economy and Society*, ed. Guenther Roth and Claus Wittich, vol. 2 (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1978), pp. 992-993.

³⁶ For example, under President George W. Bush, the Freedom of Information Act was interpreted differently than how it is interpreted by the Administration of President Barack Obama. For more information, see CRS Report R40766, Freedom of Information Act (FOIA): Issues for the 111th Congress, by Wendy R. Ginsberg (out of print; available upon request).

³⁷ The Government Accountability Office, for example, argued after the 9/11 terrorist attacks that the intelligence community needs to move from a culture of "need to know" to "need to share." See U.S. Government Accountability Office, 9/11 Commission Report: Reorganization, Transformation, and Information Sharing, GAO-04-1033T, August 3, 2004, p. 5, http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d041033t.pdf. See also CRS Report R41022, The National Counterterrorism Center (NCTC)—Responsibilities and Potential Congressional Concerns, by (name redacted)

³⁸ Ann Florini, The Right to Know: Transparency for an Open World, ed. Ann Florini (New York: Columbia University)

Press, 2007), p. 7.

³⁹ See Christopher G. Reddick, "Citizen Interaction with e-Government: From the Streets to the Servers?" *Government* (continued...)

Congressional and Other Powers and Authorities Related to Transparency

The Constitution imbues Congress with an array of formal powers—for example, lawmaking and impeachment—to hold the President and the Administration accountable for their actions or inactions. ⁴⁰ Congress also has the power of the purse, which gives it the power to supply or withhold appropriations to initiatives that would affect access to government information. ⁴¹

In addition to explicit constitutional powers, implicit congressional responsibilities and powers may be found in the Constitution. Oversight, for example, is an implicit constitutional power and obligation of Congress. ⁴² According to historian Arthur Schlesinger Jr., "it was not considered necessary to make an explicit grant of such [oversight] authority. The power to make laws implied the power to see whether they were faithfully executed." Congress, therefore, can hold hearings at which representatives from executive branch agencies describe and defend their information access practices.

Constitutional oversight and statutes are not the only mechanisms that have shaped executive branch transparency. Executive branch orders and initiatives as well as case law also have affected access to federal operations and records. Although not an exhaustive examination of the universe of authorities that affect access to government information, this report reviews and analyzes significant government actions—including statutes, executive branch memoranda and initiatives, and procurement policies—that scholars and practitioners commonly cite as providing a foundation for public access to executive branch operations and records.

The statutes and initiatives are presented in three broad categories, and are not presented in chronological order. Each category builds on some of the ideas introduced in the one before it. The first category introduces statutes that provide the public presumed access to certain executive branch records and meetings. The second category includes authorities that provide the public access to and participation in certain parts of the regulatory process. The third category includes authorities or initiatives in which transparency may not be the primary focus, but a component or byproduct of is effects.

Records, Meeting Access, and Transparency

• The Freedom of Information Act (1966)

(...continued)

Information Quarterly, vol. 22, no. 1 (2005), pp. 38-57; Eric W. Welch and Charles C. Hinnant, Internet Use, Transparency, and Interactivity Effects on Trust in Government, Presented at the 36th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2003; Eric W. Welch, Charles C. Hinnant, and M. Jae Moon, "Linking Citizen Satisfaction with E-Government and Trust in Government," Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory, vol. 15, no. 3 (July 2005), pp. 371-391.

Congressional Research Service

⁴⁰ U.S. Const. Art. I, §7; U.S. Const. Art. I, §2, cl. 15; U.S. Const. Art I, §3, cl. 16.

⁴¹ U.S. Const. Art. I, §8 cl. 1.

⁴² For more information on congressional oversight see CRS Report R41079, *Congressional Oversight: An Overview*, by (name redacted).

⁴³ Arthur M. Schlesinger Jr. and Roger Burns, eds., *Congress Investigates: A Documented History, 1792-1974*, vol. 1 (New York: Chelsea House, 1975), p. xix.

- The Federal Advisory Committee Act (1972)
- The Privacy Act (1974)
- The Government In Sunshine Act (1976)

Federal Rulemaking

- The Federal Register Act (1935)
- The Administrative Procedure Act (1946)
- The Regulatory Flexibility Act (1980)
- The Paperwork Reduction Acts (1980, 1986, and 1995)
- The National Environmental Policy Act (1969)
- Unfunded Mandates Reform Act (1995)
- The Negotiated Rulemaking Act (1990)
- The E-Government Act (2002)
- Executive Order 12866 (1993) and Executive Order 13563 (2011)

Investigations and Oversight

- The Inspector General Act (1978)
- The Chief Financial Officers Act (1990)
- The Government Performance and Results Act (1993)
- The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (2009)

Records Access, Meeting Access, and Transparency

The federal government maintains a multitude of records in a variety of formats. These records range from maps used to stage Revolutionary War battles to electronic health care records for military veterans. Members of the public can request access to certain records, while other records may be protected from public release because their publication could cause financial turmoil, violate an individual's privacy, or lead to a breach of national security. In addition to records access laws, Congress enacted the Federal Advisory Committee Act, which governs openness and participation of advisory bodies to the federal government as well as the Privacy Act to protect individual privacy. This section of the report examines these information protection laws and initiatives.

The Freedom of Information Act (1966)

Enacted in 1966 after 11 years of investigation and legislative development in the House—and nearly six years of such consideration in the Senate—the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA)⁴⁴

_

⁴⁴ 5 U.S.C. §552.

replaced the public information section of the Administrative Procedure Act. FOIA was designed to enable any person to request, without explanation or justification, access to existing, identifiable, and unpublished executive branch agency records.

FOIA exempts nine categories of records from the statute's rule of disclosure:

- 1. Information properly classified for national defense or foreign policy purposes as secret under criteria established by an executive order;
- 2. Information relating solely to agency internal personnel rules and practices;
- 3. Data specifically excepted from disclosure by a statute which either requires that matters be withheld in a non-discretionary manner or which establishes particular criteria for withholding or refers to particular types of matters to be withheld;
- 4. Trade secrets and commercial or financial information obtained from a person that is privileged or confidential;
- 5. Inter- or intra-agency memoranda or letters that would not be available by law except to an agency in litigation;
- 6. Personnel, medical, or similar files the disclosure of which would constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy;
- 7. Certain kinds of investigatory records compiled for law enforcement purposes;
- 8. Certain information relating to the regulation of financial institutions; and
- 9. Geological and geophysical information and data.⁴⁵

Some of these exemptions, such as the one concerning trade secrets and commercial or financial information, have been litigated and undergone considerable judicial interpretation.⁴⁶ Pursuant to FOIA, disputes over the accessibility of requested records may be settled ultimately in court.⁴⁷

FOIA is a widely used tool of inquiry and information gathering for various sectors of American society. Individuals or organizations must make a formal, written FOIA request for specific records from an agency. Agency information management professionals are then responsible for efficiently and economically responding to FOIA requests. Agencies may negotiate with a requester to narrow a request's scope, or the agency may explain and justify why certain records cannot be supplied. 48

FOIA has been refined with direct amendments in 1974, 1976, 1986, 1996, 2007, and 2010. In addition to statutory modifications, each presidential administration has applied FOIA differently. As recent examples, the George W. Bush Administration supported "full and deliberate consideration of the institutional, commercial, and personal privacy interests" that surround any

.

⁴⁵ 5 U.S.C. §552(b).

⁴⁶ For sources concerning judicial interpretation of FOIA, see Harry A. Hammitt, Marc Rotenberg, John A. Verdi and Mark S. Zaid, eds., *Litigation Under the Federal Open Government Laws: 2008* (Washington: EPIC Publications and The James Madison Project, 2008); James T. O'Reilly, *Federal Information Disclosure*, third edition (Eagan, MN: West Group, first published in 2000, with supplements); U.S. Department of Justice, *Freedom of Information Act Guide*, March 2007 ed. (Washington, DC: GPO, 2007).

⁴⁷ 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(4)(B).

⁴⁸ 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(6)(B)(2).

requests, 49 while the Administration of Barack Obama encourages agencies "to adopt a presumption in favor of disclosure."50

On December 8, 2009, President Obama released his Open Government Directive—a memorandum describing how agencies were to implement the open government and transparency values he discussed in a January 2009 memorandum. 51 The directive restated the Administration's commitment to the "principle that openness is the Federal Government's default position for FOIA issues."⁵² The directive also encouraged agencies to release data and information "online in an open format that can be retrieved, downloaded, indexed, and searched by commonly used applications."⁵³ The information, according to the directive, should be placed online even prior to a FOIA request, to preempt the need for such requests.⁵⁴ Finally, pursuant to the memorandum, agencies are required to put their annual FOIA report on their agency's Open Government website in an open format. Agencies with a backlog of FOIA requests are also required to reduce the number of outstanding requests by 10% per year. The directive does not state how the Administration will address agencies that do not comply with its requirements.

Federal Advisory Committee Act⁵⁵ (1972)

Prompted by the belief of many citizens and Members of Congress that existing executive branch advisory bodies were duplicative, inefficient, and lacked adequate oversight, Congress enacted the Federal Advisory Committee Act in 1972 (FACA; 5 U.S.C. Appendix—Federal Advisory Committee Act; 86 Stat.770, as amended). FACA mandated certain structural and operational requirements for many federal advisory committees, including formal reporting and oversight procedures.

Pursuant to statute, the General Services Administration (GSA) maintains and administers management guidelines for federal advisory committees. FACA requires that advice provided by these committees be objective and accessible to the public. All FACA committee meetings are presumptively open to the public, with certain specified exceptions. ⁵⁶ Adequate notice of

53 Ibid.

⁴⁹ U.S. Department of Justice Memorandum from John Ashcroft, Attorney General, Freedom of Information Act, October 12, 2001, at http://www.doi.gov/foia/foia.pdf.

⁵⁰ Executive Office of the President, Memorandum from President Barack Obama, Freedom of Information Act, January 21, 2009, at http://www.whitehouse.gov/the press office/FreedomofInformationAct/.

⁵¹ Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget, *Open Government Directive*, Washington, DC, December 8, 2009, at http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/assets/memoranda 2010/m10-06.pdf. This section discusses only the part of the directive related to FOIA. The directive will be discussed in greater detail later in this report.

⁵² Ibid., p. 1.

⁵⁴ Publishing FOIA information online is one suggestion that was repeated by several members of the public who participated in the Open Government Initiative's online collaboration. On June 19, 2009, for example, a user identifying himself as Adam Rappaport from the Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington, wrote a blog comment suggesting that "agencies could pro-actively disclose information and records on their websites that would help avoid a FOIA request from even occurring." Office of Science and Technology Policy, "OSTP Blog," at http://blog.ostp.gov/2009/06/10/transparency-access-to-information/comment-page-2/#comments.

⁵⁵ For more information on the Federal Advisory Committee Act, see CRS Report R40520, Federal Advisory Committees: An Overview, by (name redacted).

⁵⁶ These exemptions include entities created within the Central Intelligence Agency or the Federal Reserve System, or created by any local civic group whose primary function is that of rendering a public service with respect to a federal program, or any state or local committee, council, board, commission, or similar group established to advise or make recommendations to state or local officials or agencies. (5 U.S.C. Appendix §4.)

meetings must be published in advance in the *Federal Register*. Subject to the exemptions set forth in FOIA, all papers, records, and minutes of meetings must be made available for public inspection. Advisory committee membership must be "fairly balanced in terms of the points of view represented and the functions to be performed," and committees should "not be inappropriately influenced by the appointing authority or by any special interest."⁵⁷

Privacy Act (1974)

The Privacy Act (5 U.S.C. §552a), enacted in 1974, is the principal law governing the federal government's information privacy program and the collection, use, and dissemination of a "record" about an "individual" maintained by federal agencies in a "system of records." Records protected by the Privacy Act must be retrieved by either an individual's name or individual identifier. The Privacy Act also applies to systems of records created by government contractors. The Privacy Act does not apply to private databases.

The Privacy Act prohibits the disclosure of any record maintained in a system of records without the written consent of the record subject, unless the disclosure falls within one of 12 statutory exceptions. The act allows most individuals to seek access to records about themselves, and requires that personal information in agency files be accurate, complete, relevant, and timely.⁶² The subject of a record may challenge the accuracy of information.

The Privacy Act requires that when agencies establish or modify a system of records, they publish a "system-of-records notice" in the *Federal Register*.⁶³ Each agency that maintains a system of records is required to "establish appropriate administrative, technical, and physical safeguards to insure the security and confidentiality of records and to protect against any anticipated threats or hazards to their security or integrity which could result in substantial harm, embarrassment, inconvenience, or unfairness to any individual."

The Privacy Act provides legal remedies that permit an individual to seek enforcement of the rights granted under the act. The individual may bring a civil suit against the agency whenever an agency fails to comply with the act "in such a way as to have an adverse effect on an individual." The court may order the agency to amend the individual's record, enjoin the agency from withholding the individual's records, and may award monetary damages of \$1,000 or more to the individual for intentional or willful violations. Courts may also assess attorneys fees and

The act defines a "record" as any item, collection, or grouping of information about an individual that is maintained by an agency and contains his or her name or another personal identifier. (5 U.S.C. §552a(a)(4).)

⁵⁷ 5 U.S.C. Appendix §5(2).

⁵⁹ "The term "individual" means a citizen of the United States or an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence." See 5 U.S.C. §552a(2).

⁶⁰ The act defines "system of records" as a group of records under the control of any agency from which information is retrieved by the name of the individual or by an individual identifier. (5 U.S.C. §552a(a)(5).)

⁶¹ 5 U.S.C. §552(m). Federal contracting and procurement will be discussed in greater detail later in this report.

^{62 5} U.S.C. §552a(e)(5).

⁶³ The *Federal Register* notice must identify, among other things, the type of data collected, the types of individuals about whom information is collected, the intended "routine" uses of data, and procedures that individuals can use to review and correct personal information. (5 U.S.C. §552e(4).)

⁶⁴ 5 U.S.C. §552a(e)(10).

^{65 5} U.S.C. §552a(g)(1)(D).

costs. ⁶⁶ The act also contains criminal penalties; federal employees who fail to comply with the act's provisions may be subjected to criminal penalties. ⁶⁷

The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) is required to prescribe guidelines and regulations for the use by agencies in implementing the act, and provide assistance to and oversight of the implementation of the act. ⁶⁸

Government in the Sunshine Act (1976)

Enacted in 1976, the Government in the Sunshine Act (5 U.S.C. §552b) presumptively opens the policymaking deliberations of collegially headed federal agencies—such as boards, commissions, or councils—to public scrutiny. Pursuant to the statute, agencies are required to publish advance notice of impending meetings and make those meetings publicly accessible.⁶⁹ The act includes 10 conditions under which agency meetings would be exempted from the act.⁷⁰ These exemptions allow agencies to close meetings when an agency properly determines that such a portion or portions of its meeting or the disclosure of such information is likely to

- 1. disclose matters that are specifically authorized by an executive order to be kept secret in the interests of national defense or foreign policy and are properly classified pursuant to such an executive order;
- 2. relate solely to the internal personnel rules and practices of an agency;
- 3. disclose matters specifically exempted from disclosure by statute (other than FOIA), provided that such statute leaves no discretion on the issue, establishes particular criteria for withholding, or refers to particular types of matters to be withheld;
- 4. disclose trade secrets and commercial or financial information obtained from a person;
- 5. involve accusing any person of a crime, or the formal censuring any person;
- 6. disclose information of a personal nature where disclosure would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy;
- 7. disclose investigatory records compiled for law enforcement purposes, or information which, if written, would be contained in such records;
- 8. disclose information contained in or related to examination, operating, or condition reports prepared by, on behalf of, or for the use of an agency responsible for the regulation or supervision of financial institutions;
- 9. disclose information which, if prematurely disclosed, would in the case of an agency which regulates currencies, securities, commodities, or financial institutions, be likely to lead to significant financial speculation in currencies, securities, or commodities, or significantly endanger the stability of any financial

⁶⁶ 5 U.S.C. §552a(g)(4)(A).

⁶⁷ 5 U.S.C. §552a(i)(1).

^{68 5} U.S.C. §552a(v); 40 Fed. Reg. 28976 (July 9, 1975).

⁶⁹ 5 U.S.C. §552b(e)(3).

⁷⁰ 5 U.S.C. §552b(c).

- institution; or in the case of any agency, be likely to significantly frustrate implementation of a proposed agency action; or
- 10. specifically concern the agency's issuance of a subpoena, or the agency's participation in a civil action or proceeding, an action in a foreign court or international tribunal, or an arbitration, or the initiation, conduct, or disposition by the agency of a particular case of formal agency adjudication.

Disputes over proper public notice of such meetings or the propriety of closing a deliberation may be pursued in federal court.

Federal Rulemaking and Transparency⁷¹

Rulemaking is one of the ways in which the federal government implements public policy. When Congress passes a statute to accomplish a legislative goal, the statute may contain some delegation of authority to federal agencies that allows or requires them to issue regulations to implement the law. Congress delegates rulemaking authority to agencies for a variety of reasons. Rulemakers often have information or knowledge that adds to or complements that of Congress, and delegation of rulemaking authority to agencies may intentionally or unintentionally remove certain elements of legislation from congressional debate.⁷²

Critics of the delegation of rulemaking authority have pointed to the fact that the individuals who write rules cannot be held accountable to the public in the same way as Members of Congress, who are electorally accountable. This concern has led to calls for greater transparency in the rulemaking process, as well as greater participation among interested or affected parties. Many developments in the rulemaking process, beginning with the passage of the Federal Register Act, have addressed this desire to increase the transparency of and public participation in the rulemaking process.

The Federal Register Act⁷³ (1935)

The Federal Register Act⁷⁴ was originally enacted in 1935 to establish accountability and publication arrangements for presidential proclamations, executive orders, and federal agency rules and regulations. Prior to the enactment of the Federal Register Act, the public was sometimes unaware of or misunderstood existing federal regulations. In one instance, a lawsuit against a regulation made it all the way to the Supreme Court before it was discovered that the regulation in dispute did not exist.⁷⁵

_

⁷¹ This section was written by (name redacted), Analyst in Government Organization and Management.

⁷² For more information on the federal rulemaking process, see CRS Report RL32240, *The Federal Rulemaking Process: An Overview*, coordinated by (name redacted).

⁷³ This section was excerpted from CRS Report RL30795, *General Management Laws: A Compendium*, by (name redacted) et al. This particular section of RL30795 was written by (name redacted), who has since retired from CRS. Readers with questions about the Federal Register Act may contact (name redacted) ([redacted]@crs.loc.gov) or (name redacted) ([redacted]@crs.loc.gov).

⁷⁴ 49 Stat. 500.

⁷⁵ In one Supreme Court Case, *Amazon Petroleum Corporation v. Ryan*, Harold M. Stevens, assistant attorney general in the antitrust division, argued against an executive order that never was in effect.

The specific provision that the Amazon Petroleum Company is charged with violating, and whose (continued...)

In many respects, the Federal Register Act of 1935 was a response to the increasing number of regulations and related administrative actions of the New Deal era under President Franklin D. Roosevelt. The expansion of the federal government during World War I resulted in the presidential and agency issuance of a growing quantity of administrative requirements. Brief experience with a gazette—*The Official Bulletin*—had been beneficial, but was of temporary, wartime duration. ⁷⁶ Its disappearance led to one contemporary observer characterizing the situation in 1920 as one of "confusion," and another describing the deteriorating conditions in 1934 as "chaos."

The congressional response was to mandate the *Federal Register*, "the official daily publication for rules, proposed rules, and notices of Federal agencies and organizations, as well as executive orders and other presidential documents." Produced in a magazine format, the *Federal Register* is now published each business day by the Office of the Federal Register of the National Archives and Records Administration (NARA). 80

Two years after enacting the Federal Register Act, ⁸¹ Congress amended it and inaugurated the *Code of Federal Regulations*, a supplement to the *Federal Register*. This aggregation of the

(...continued)

constitutionality the company is now challenging (section 9(c) of Title I of the NIRA of June 16, 1933), was inadvertently omitted when it was sent to the printer. This means that the company is charged with violating a provision that technically does not exist. More significantly, as the cases moved through the lower courts, almost no one knew about the omission—not the plaintiffs (Amazon Petroleum or Panama Refining), not the defendants (the Justice Department), and not the courts, instead, all believe "it in full force and effect."

See Lotte E. Feinberg, "Mr. Justice Brandeis and the Creation of the Federal Register," in *Transparency and Secrecy: A Reader Linking Literature and Contemporary Debate*, ed. Suzanne Piotrowski (Lanham, MD: Lexington Books, 2010), p. 78.

- search for a regulation such as a proposed rule, final rule or Federal Register notice;
- submit a comment on a regulation or on another comment;
- submit an application, petition, or adjudication document;
- sign up for e-mail alerts about a specific regulation;
- quickly access regulations that are popular, newly posted, or closing soon-directly from the homepage; and
- subscribe to RSS feeds by agency of newly posted Federal Register notices.

(

⁷⁶ John Walters, "The Official Bulletin of the United States: America's First Official Gazette," *Government Publications Review*, vol. 19, May-June 1992, pp. 243-256.

⁷⁷ John A. Fairlie, "Administrative Legislation," *Michigan Law Review*, vol. 18 (January 1920), p. 199.

⁷⁸ Erwin N. Griswold, "Government in Ignorance of the Law—A Plea for Better Publication of Executive Legislation," *Harvard Law Review*, vol. 48 (December 1934), p. 199.

⁷⁹ GPO Access, "Federal Register: About," at http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/browse/collection.action?collectionCode=FR. The *Federal Register* is available online at a website administered jointly by the Government Printing Office (GPO) and the National Archives and Records Administration's (NARA's) Office of the Federal Register, at http://www.federalregister.gov/.

⁸⁰ For more information on the federal rulemaking process, see CRS Report RL32240, *The Federal Rulemaking Process: An Overview*, coordinated by (name redacted). The *Federal Register* is printed in hard copy by GPO and is available in electronic formats (online at http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/browse/collection.action?collectionCode=FR and via CD-ROM). Individuals can also access and comment on regulations at *Regulations.gov* (http://www.regulations.gov/#!home), which states that its mission is to improve "access to and participation in the federal regulatory process." On the site, individuals can

^{81 50} Stat. 304.

instruments and authorities appearing in the gazette contains almost all operative agency regulations and is updated annually.

Later, the general statutory authority underlying the *Federal Register* was relied upon for the creation of a series of other publications—the *United States Government Manual*, which has been available for public purchase since 1939; the *Public Papers of the Presidents*, which were first published in 1960; and the *Weekly Compilation of Presidential Documents*, which was first issued in the summer of 1965.

In July 2010, NARA, in conjunction with the Government Printing Office (GPO), launched Federal Register 2.0, an online, interactive presentation of the *Federal Register*. The website divides the publication's content into subject areas—including science and technology, money, health, and public welfare. The most viewed *Federal Register* documents are available in a "What's Hot?" section of the site. The site also includes written blog posts and short videos from federal officials and President Obama that discuss the *Federal Register* itself, the Federal Register 2.0 website, and particular regulations. Federal Register 2.0 is not an "official legal edition" of the *Federal Register*, and instead uses graphic renditions of the official documents (published in hard copy or available electronically at http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/browse/collection.action? collectionCode=FR). 83

Administrative Procedure Act⁸⁴ (1946)

The Administrative Procedure Act (APA; 60 Stat. 237; 5 U.S.C. §551 et seq.), enacted in 1946, is considered the seminal federal administrative legislation of the modern era. The major contribution of the act was to establish—for the first time—minimum procedural requirements for certain types of agency decision making processes. Its general purposes were to

- 1. require agencies to keep the public informed of agency organization, procedures, and rules;
- 2. provide for public participation in the rulemaking process;
- 3. prescribe uniform standards for the conduct of formal rulemaking and adjudicatory proceedings (i.e., proceedings required by statute to be made on the record after opportunity for agency hearing); and
- 4. restate that the law provides for judicial review of agency action.

In general, the term *agency* refers to any authority of the government of the United States, whether or not it is within, or subject to review by, another agency. ⁸⁵ Congress, the courts, and the governments of territories, possessions, and the District of Columbia are excluded. ⁸⁶

⁸² The National Archives and Records Administration and the Government Printing Office, "The Federal Register: The Daily Journal of the United States Government," at http://www.federalregister.gov/.

⁸³ According to NARA and GPO, "... FederalRegister.gov will remain an unofficial informational resource until the Administrative Committee of the Federal Register (ACFR) issues a regulation granting it official legal status." The National Archives and Records Administration and the Government Printing Office, "The Federal Register: Legal Status," at http://www.federalregister.gov/policy/legal-status.

⁸⁴ This section was excerpted from CRS Report RL30795, *General Management Laws: A Compendium*, by (name redacted) et al. This particular section of RL30795 was written by (name redacted), who has since retired from CRS, and (name redacted), Deputy Assistant Director/Specialist in American Law.

The act imposes on agencies certain requirements for rulemaking and adjudication, with different schemes of procedural requirements prescribed for each. *Rulemaking* is agency action that formulates the future conduct of persons, through the development and issuance of an agency statement designed to implement, interpret, or prescribe law or policy. It is essentially legislative in nature because of its future general applicability and its concern for policy considerations. *Adjudication*, on the other hand, is concerned with determination of past and present rights and liabilities. The result of an adjudicative proceeding is the issuance of an order.⁸⁷

Pursuant to rulemaking requirements within the APA, an agency must publish a notice of proposed rulemaking in the *Federal Register*, afford interested persons an opportunity to participate in the proceeding through the submission of written comments—or, at the discretion of the agency, by oral presentation—and when consideration of the matter is completed, incorporate in the rules adopted "a concise general statement of their basis and purpose." A final rule must be published in the *Federal Register* "not less than 30 days before its effective date." Interested persons have a right to petition for the issuance, amendment, or repeal of a rule. Although the APA does not specify a minimum period for public comment, at least 30 days have been traditionally allotted. More recently, Executive Order 12866⁹¹ suggested that covered agencies should allow at least 60 days. Agencies are free to grant additional procedural rights, and Congress has at times particularized requirements for certain agencies or programs.

The APA retains its preeminence as the general management law governing agency decision making by means of rulemaking and adjudication. Essentially unamended by Congress since 1946, it has maintained its vitality in the face of vast and fundamental changes in the nature and scope of federal government responsibilities. Administrative lawmaking was "democratized" in a series of court decisions between 1965 and 1983 that expanded both the obligations of agencies and the role of reviewing courts.

_

^{(...}continued)

^{85 5} U.S.C. §551(1).

⁸⁶ Ibid.

⁸⁷ For more on rulemaking, see CRS Report R41546, *A Brief Overview of Rulemaking and Judicial Review*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

⁸⁸ 5 U.S.C. §553(c). The APA contains some exceptions to the basic requirements for notice and comment. For example, if an agency can establish "good cause," it may choose to publish a final rule without first issuing notice or taking comments.

⁸⁹ 5 U.S.C. §553(d).

⁹⁰ 5 U.S.C. §553(e).

⁹¹ Executive Order 12866, "Regulatory Planning and Review," 58 Federal Register 5173b, October 4, 1993.

⁹² Although Congress has never undertaken a comprehensive revision of the APA, it has always recognized that it could do so, and with increasing frequency, it has supplanted the APA's requirements with more explicit directives for particular agencies and programs mirroring the above-described judicial innovations. Often this legislation has been aimed at formalizing the procedural protections ensuring effective and meaningful public participation in agency policymaking. Thus, certain health, environmental, and consumer protection statutes, for example, contain detailed "hybrid-rulemaking" requirements and procedural as well as substantive changes. See, e.g., 42 U.S.C. §300g-1(d) (requiring public hearing prior to the promulgation of regulations pursuant to the Safe Drinking Water Act); 15 U.S.C. §2605 (providing for public hearing and opportunity for cross-examination of witnesses prior to promulgation of regulations under the Toxic Substances Control Act); and 15 U.S.C. §2058 (providing for a public hearing before promulgation of rules under the Consumer Product Safety Act).

The Federal Register Act and the APA, together, gave the public and Congress access to the regulatory process. Such access, however, requires motivated publics that can understand and use the information provided in the *Federal Register*.

The printed version of the *Federal Register* is organized by agency, and each regulation is required to include a title, a unique identifying number, and a brief description of the regulation and why it was proposed. The regulatory process includes a public comment period in which interested individuals can submit a comment, complaint, or concern about the proposed rule prior to its application. The process, therefore, includes an opportunity for public input, and agencies must acknowledge why or why not those comments were incorporated into the proposal. Members of the public who choose to participate in the regulatory process, however, must know where to find the *Federal Register*, how to search the *Federal Register*, and how to enter a public comment.

Other Rulemaking Legislation with Transparency Elements⁹³

After enacting the Federal Register Act and the APA, Congress passed a series of laws adding further requirements to the rulemaking process. Among those laws are: National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA); the Regulatory Flexibility Act (RFA) of 1980; the Unfunded Mandates Reform Act (UMRA); the Negotiated Rulemaking Act of 1990; and the E-Government Act of 2002. Many of these new laws placed requirements on agencies to conduct and make public various types of impact analyses, which compel agencies to consider a certain issue or set of issues while considering a regulatory action. The analyses also increase transparency because the agencies publish the findings from the impact analyses in the *Federal Register*.⁹⁴

The first impact analysis requirement was a component of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) of 1969. NEPA requires agencies to conduct an environmental assessment, considering whether a proposed rule would have a significant effect on the environment. If they determine that the rule will have a significant impact on the environment, the agency is further required to prepare an "environmental impact statement," which is to detail the direct, indirect, and cumulative effects of the proposed action. This information is published along with the rule in the *Federal Register*.

The Regulatory Flexibility Act (RFA) of 1980, ⁹⁶ like NEPA, requires agencies to give consideration to the effect their rules may have—though the RFA's requirement is for the agency to consider the rule's effect on "small entities." These small entities include small businesses, small government units, and some non-profit organizations. The RFA requires an agency considering a rule to determine whether the proposed rule would have a "significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities." If so, the agency is required to complete an "initial regulatory flexibility analysis" at the proposed rule stage and a "final regulatory flexibility analysis" at the final rule stage. These analyses require the agency to describe why the rule is

⁹⁶ 5 U.S.C. §§601-612. For an overview and discussion of the Regulatory Flexibility Act, see CRS Report RL34355,

⁹³ This section was written by (name redacted), Analyst in Government Organization and Management.

⁹⁴ Online access to the Federal Register is available at http://www.federalregister.gov/.

⁹⁵ 42 U.S.C. §§4321-4347.

The Regulatory Flexibility Act: Implementation Issues and Proposed Reforms, coordinated by (name redacted). ⁹⁷ 5 U.S.C. §602(a)(1).

⁹⁸ 5 U.S.C. §603(c).

being considered, how many and which small entities the rule would affect, what the estimated compliance costs with the regulation would be, and whether there are any alternatives to the rule that the agency might consider that could accomplish the same objectives while placing less of a burden on small entities. The regulatory flexibility analyses are published in the Federal Register along with the proposed and final rules.

Like NEPA and the RFA, the Unfunded Mandates Reform Act (UMRA)⁹⁹ requires agencies to perform analyses related to the cost of compliance when new requirements will be established without any federal funding to support their implementation. The law requires analyses of federal mandates that will result in the expenditure of \$100 million or more in any year by state, local, or tribal governments, or the private sector. Agencies must demonstrate that

- they identified and considered a reasonable number of regulatory alternatives, with a justification of why the agency chose the option it did:
- they developed a plan to notify small governments that would be affected by an agency's action; and
- they developed a process to provide to local government entities input during the development of regulatory proposals.

If applicable, this information is published in the Federal Register.

Another legislative measure that called for increased public participation in the rulemaking process was the Negotiated Rulemaking Act of 1990, ¹⁰⁰ which encourages agencies to form a rulemaking committee before developing a proposed rule. The rulemaking committees consist of interested and affected parties, with a goal to generate proposed rules that are easier to implement and could lead to less subsequent litigation.

Additionally, the E-Government Act of 2002¹⁰¹ established an Office of Electronic Government. The office was created to oversee the implementation of an e-government program, requiring agencies to increase public access to agency regulatory activities through their websites. The act also requires agencies to accept public comments on proposed rules electronically. The Bush Administration launched Regulations, gov in 2003 in a related effort that shared many of the same transparency objectives as the E-Government Act. Regulations.gov provides a centralized, government-wide rulemaking portal for the public. The site allows users to search for rules and comment electronically on proposed rules. Visitors to the site can view other comments that have been submitted regarding rules they may be interested in, and they can also view other agency documents.

Executive Orders 12866 and 13563¹⁰²

Some presidents have also recognized the need for transparency in rulemaking, and have issued executive orders that make the process more accessible to the public. Executive Order 12866,

⁹⁹ 2 U.S.C. §§1532-1538. For more information on UMRA, see CRS Report R40957, Unfunded Mandates Reform Act: History, Impact, and Issues, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

^{100 5} U.S.C. §§561-570a.

¹⁰¹ 44 U.S.C. §§3601-3606.

¹⁰² This section was written by (name redacted), Analyst in Government Organization and Management.

issued by President Bill Clinton in 1993, is the primary executive order that governs the rulemaking process. ¹⁰³ President George W. Bush and President Obama have both followed the procedures in that executive order. In the preamble, President Clinton stated generally that he wanted "to make the [rulemaking] process more accessible and open to the public." Specific provisions in the executive order also call for openness and transparency of the process. For example, Section 6(a)(3)(E) calls for each agency to identify publicly the changes made from the draft rule to the final rule, and Section 6(b)(4)(C) requires the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs (OIRA)¹⁰⁴ to keep a publicly accessible log that provides the public with information about meetings, telephone conversations, and other communications between OIRA personnel, the regulating agency, and the public.

On January 18, 2011, President Obama issued Executive Order 13563, 105 which reaffirmed many of the principles contained in Executive Order 12866—including the transparency principles. The new executive order added that agencies should provide online access to the rulemaking docket on *Regulations.gov*, "in an open format that can be easily searched and downloaded. For proposed rules, such access shall include, to the extent feasible and permitted by law, an opportunity for public comment on all pertinent parts of the rulemaking docket, including relevant scientific and technical findings." 106

Concurrent with Executive Order 13563, President Obama issued a memorandum¹⁰⁷ for the heads of the executive departments and agencies that tied the regulatory process to his Open Government Initiative.¹⁰⁸

The Unified Agenda¹⁰⁹

In compliance with Executive Order 12866¹¹⁰ and the Regulatory Flexibility Act,¹¹¹ the federal government publishes the *Unified Agenda of Federal Regulatory and Deregulatory Actions* (Unified Agenda) twice each year (in the spring and fall). The Unified Agenda is published by the Regulatory Information Service Center, which is part of the General Services Administration, on behalf of OIRA. The Unified Agenda obtains information from each executive branch agency about its upcoming regulatory actions, which are classified into one of five stages of activity:

106 ~ .

¹⁰³ Executive Order, "Regulatory Planning and Review," 58 Federal Register 51735, September 30, 1993.

¹⁰⁴ The Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs and its duties will be discussed in greater detail later in this report.

¹⁰⁵ Executive Order 13563, "Improving Regulation and Regulatory Review," 76 Federal Register 3821, January 21, 2011.

¹⁰⁶ Section 2(b).

¹⁰⁷ "Regulatory Compliance: Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies," 76 *Federal Register* 3825, January 21, 2011.

¹⁰⁸ The initiative will be discussed later in this report and is analyzed in detail in CRS Report R41361, The Obama Administration's Open Government Initiative: Issues for Congress, by Wendy R. Ginsberg (out of print; available upon request).

¹⁰⁹ This section was written by (name redacted), Analyst in Government Organization and Management.

¹¹⁰ The transparency requirement in E.O. 12866 resulting in the publication of the Unified Agenda can be found in Section 4, which requires executive branch agencies to "prepare an agenda of all regulations under development or review."

¹¹¹ The transparency requirement in the Regulatory Flexibility Act resulting in the publication of the Unified Agenda can be found in Section 602, which requires agencies to publish a regulatory agenda semiannually in the *Federal Register* that would identify regulatory actions that are under development and may have a significant economic impact upon a substantial number of small entities.

- prerules;
- proposed rules;
- final rules;
- long-term actions; and
- completed actions.

With each item, the agency provides the title of the rule, an abstract of the anticipated action, and a projected date for each action. ¹¹² The Unified Agenda provides a way for the public and interested parties to stay aware of what regulatory actions are under consideration in the agencies and what actions the agencies are likely to take in the future.

Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs (OIRA)113

OIRA is one of several statutory offices within the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), and can play a significant—if not determinative—role in the rulemaking process for most federal agencies. OIRA was created by Section 3503 of the Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA) of 1980 (44 U.S.C. Chapter 35). The PRA designated the OIRA Administrator as the "principal advisor to the OMB Director on Federal information policy." With regard to paperwork, the act generally prohibits agencies from conducting or sponsoring a collection of information from the public until they have submitted their proposed information collection requests to OIRA and the office had approved those requests. The number and nature of OIRA's reviews of these PRA requests can be viewed by the public on OIRA's website. 114

Executive Order 12291, issued by President Ronald Reagan in 1981, greatly increased OIRA's responsibilities to include review of the substance of all agencies' proposed rules, not just their information collection requests. Executive Order 12866, issued by President Clinton in 1993, superseded the 1981 order, but reaffirmed the concept of OIRA regulatory review. Under Executive Order 12866, OIRA annually reviews between 500 and 700 "significant" proposed and final rules developed by Cabinet departments and independent agencies (but not independent regulatory agencies) before they are published in the *Federal Register*. OIRA can clear the

¹¹² About three-fourths of the significant proposed rules that were published in 2008 had been listed as "proposed rules" in the Unified Agenda. For these findings and more information about the Unified Agenda, see the archived CRS Report R40713, *The Unified Agenda: Implications for Rulemaking Transparency and Participation*, by (name reda cted).

¹¹³ This section was written by (name redacted), Analyst in Government Organization and Management.

¹¹⁴ Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, at http://www.reginfo.gov/public/do/PRAMain.

Executive Order 12291, "Federal Regulation," 46 Federal Register 13193, February 19, 1981.

¹¹⁶ Executive Order 12866, "Regulatory Planning and Review," 58 *Federal Register* 51735, October 4, 1993. For an electronic copy of this executive order, see http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/inforeg/eo12866.pdf.

¹¹⁷ The executive order defines a "significant" regulatory action as one that "is likely to result in a rule that may (1) have an annual effect on the economy of \$100 million or more or adversely affect in a material way the economy, a sector of the economy, productivity, competition, jobs, the environment, public health or safety, or state, local, or tribal governments or communities; (2) create a serious inconsistency or otherwise interfere with an action taken or planned by another agency; (3) materially alter the budgetary impact of entitlements, grants, user fees, or loan programs or the rights and obligations of recipients thereof; or (4) raise novel legal or policy issues arising out of legal mandates, the President's priorities, or the principles set forth in the Executive order."

¹¹⁸ The PRA's requirements cover public information collections issued by virtually all agencies, including Cabinet (continued...)

rules with or without change, return them to the agencies for reconsideration, or encourage the agencies to withdraw the rules. 119 Data on OIRA's current and past reviews of rules can be viewed by the public on OIRA's website.

Investigations, Oversight, and Transparency

Although inspectors general are not always thought of as enforcers of transparency, their work makes a variety of information and records available to the public. The research and investigations conducted by these civil servants can expose waste, fraud, abuse, or simply make the operations of federal agencies more accessible. Additionally, the executive branch is using the Internet to make federal spending information accessible to the public in more user-friendly formats than it has previously been offered. This section describes investigatory and oversight mechanisms that provide access to government operations and information.

Inspector General Act of 1978¹²⁰

Statutory offices of inspectors general (OIGs) consolidate responsibility for auditing and investigations within a federal department, agency, or other organization. Established by law as permanent, independent, nonpartisan, and objective units, the OIGs are designed to combat waste, fraud, and abuse (5 U.S.C. Appendix). 121 The earliest establishments of these offices occurred in the wake of major financial and management scandals, first in 1976 in the Department of Health, Education and Welfare—now Health and Human Services (90 Stat. 2429)—and in 1978 in the General Services Administration (GSA). This later episode paved the way for OIGs in GSA along with 11 other departments and agencies (92 Stat. 1101). Such offices now exist in nearly 70 federal establishments and entities, including all Cabinet departments and the largest federal agencies, as well as many boards, commissions, government corporations, and foundations.

The overwhelming majority of IGs are governed by the Inspector General Act of 1978, as amended (hereinafter referred to as the IG Act), 122 which has been substantially modified twice as

departments, independent agencies, and independent regulatory agencies and commissions. The term "independent regulatory agencies" refers to agencies established to be independent of the President, including the Federal Communications Commission, the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Consumer Product Safety Commission. The term "independent agencies" refers to agencies that are independent of Cabinet departments but not independent regulatory agencies (e.g., the Environmental Protection Agency and the Office of Personnel Management).

^{(...}continued)

¹¹⁹ Information about OIRA's review of rules and about the rules themselves can be accessed at OIRA's website, at http://www.reginfo.gov/public/.

¹²⁰ This section was excerpted from two CRS Reports: CRS Report RL30795, General Management Laws: A Compendium, by (name redacted) et al.; and CRS Report RL30240, Congressional Oversight Manual, by (name redacted) et al. These particular sections of RL30975 and RL30240 were written by (name redacted), who has since retired from CRS. Readers with questions about inspectors general may contact (name redacted) ([redacted]@crs.loc.gov).

¹²¹ In addition to statutory inspectors general, other temporary and permanent inspectors general or watchdog-type organizations exist across the federal government. Some of these offices include the Government Accountability Office (GAO), which describes itself as "an independent, nonpartisan agency that works for Congress ... and investigates how the federal government spends taxpayer dollars." Additionally, a variety of federal agencies have federal ombudsmen who may assist employees internally with workforce concerns or assist the public with operational or other concerns. For more information on federal ombudsmen, see CRS Report RL34606, Federal Complaint-Handling, Ombudsman, and Advocacy Offices, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

^{122 5} U.S.C. App. Phyllis K. Fong, Department of Agriculture Inspector General and Chair of the Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency (CIGIE), "The IG Reform Act and the New IG Council: Dawn of a New (continued...)

well as subject to agency-specific OIG amendments. The IG Act provided the blueprint regarding IG appointments and removals, powers and authorities, and responsibilities and duties, and created OIGs in 12 federal "establishments." The Inspector General Act Amendments of 1988 created a new set of IGs in "designated federal entities" (DFEs), the usually smaller federal agencies, and added to the reporting obligations of all IGs and agency heads, among other things. The Inspector General Reform Act of 2008 established a new Council of the Inspectors General for Integrity and Efficiency (CIGIE); amended reporting obligations, salary and bonus provisions, and removal requirements; and added certain budget protections for offices of inspector general. The Inspector general is a december of the Inspector general inspector general.

Three principal purposes or missions guide the OIGs:

- conduct and supervise audits and investigations relating to the programs and operations of the establishment;
- provide leadership and coordination and recommend policies for activities designed to (1) promote economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in the administration of such programs and operations; and (2) prevent and detect fraud and abuse in such programs and operations; and
- provide a means for keeping the head of the establishment and Congress fully
 and currently informed about problems and deficiencies relating to the
 administration of such programs and operations, as well as the necessity for and
 progress of corrective action.

IGs have various reporting obligations—to the Attorney General, agency head, Congress, and the public—with regard to their findings, conclusions, and recommendations for corrective action. One such requirement is to report suspected violations of federal criminal law directly and expeditiously to the Attorney General. ¹²⁶ IGs are also required to report semiannually about their activities, findings, and recommendations to the agency head, who must submit the IG report (unaltered but with his or her comments) to Congress within 30 days. ¹²⁷ These semiannual reports, which contain a substantial amount of required information and data, are to be made available to the public in another 60 days. ¹²⁸ IGs are also to report "particularly serious or flagrant"

_

^{(...}continued)

Era," *Journal of Public Inquiry*, Fall-Winter 2008-2009, pp. 1-6; Paul Light, *Monitoring Government: Inspectors General and the Search for Accountability* (Washington, Brookings Institution, 1992); (name redacted), "The Watchers' Watchdog: The CIA Inspector General," *International Journal of Intelligence and Counterintelligence*, Spring 1989, vol. 3, pp. 55-75.

¹²³ P.L. 95-452. Two other IGs, which served as models, pre-dated this broad enactment: in 1976, in the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, now Health and Human Services (P.L. 94-505); and in 1977, in the then-new Department of Energy (P.L. 95-91).

¹²⁴ P.L. 101-504.

¹²⁵ P.L. 110-409. Pursuant to P.L. 110-409, federal agencies are required to provide a link to the website of the Office of Inspector General of their agency on their agency's homepage. Additionally, inspectors general are required to post any report or audit produced by the agency on their website within three days of their public release.

¹²⁶ 5 U.S.C. App. §4(d).

¹²⁷ 5 U.S.C. App. §5(a), (b).

¹²⁸ 5 U.S.C. App. §5(c).

problems" immediately to the agency head, who must submit the IG report (unaltered but with his or her comments) to Congress within seven days. 129

By means of the required reports and "otherwise," IGs are to keep the agency head and Congress "fully and currently informed." Besides the prescribed reports, other means of communication with Congress include OIG officials testifying at hearings, meeting with members and staff, and responding to requests for information and reviews.

As a separate matter, the CIGIE is authorized (but not required) to "make such reports to Congress as the Chairperson determines are necessary and appropriate." By comparison to this discretionary authority, the Chairperson is required to "prepare and transmit a report annually on behalf of the Council to the President on the activities of the Council." ¹³²

Each agency website, moreover, is to provide a direct link to the IG website, which, in turn, is to make its reports on audits, investigations, and evaluations or inspections available to the public (unless they are classified).¹³³

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act and $USASpending.gov^{134}$

The federal government awards nearly \$1.3 trillion a year in grants, contracts, and direct loans, a sum which has grown significantly in recent years and which now represents more than a third of the government's budget.¹³⁵ Given the scale of funds provided through federal assistance, transparency advocates—including some Members of Congress—have long argued that award data should be easily accessible by the public. Federal agencies would be less likely to make "questionable" spending decisions, Senator Tom Coburn said, if agencies knew that the public could monitor who received awards, and for what purpose. Similarly, Senator Thomas Carper argued that providing the public with federal award data would "hold the government accountable for its performance." Moreover, transparency advocates have argued that, as a matter of principle, the public "deserves to know where their money is being spent." 138

Data on federal awards have been available to the public for decades, but not in a user-friendly environment. Grant and loan award data were made available through the U.S. Census Bureau's Federal Assistance Awards Database (FAADS) in 1981, while contract information has been provided through the Federal Procurement Data System (FPDS)—which has been maintained by

¹³⁰ 5 U.S.C. App. §4(a)(5).

¹²⁹ 5 U.S.C. App. §5(d).

¹³¹ 5 U.S.C. App. §11(c)(1)(G).

¹³² 5 U.S.C. App. §11(b)(3)(viii).

^{133 5} U.S.C. App. §8L.

¹³⁴ This section was written by (name redacted), Analyst inAmerican Federalism and Emergency Management Policy.

¹³⁵ United States Bureau of the Census, Consolidated Federal Funds Report 2010, at http://www.census.gov/govs/cffr/.

¹³⁶ Senator Tom Coburn, "Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006," remarks in the Senate, *Congressional Record*, daily edition, vol. 152 (April 6, 2006), p. S3240.

¹³⁷ United States Senate, "Senate Committee Passes Sen. Carper Bill to Help Taxpayers 'Google' Government Spending," press release, July 38, 2006, p. 1.

¹³⁸ Ibid.

the General Service Administration, since 1977. Both FAADS and FPDS—which are still operational—are considered difficult to use because they require familiarity with grant, loan, or contracting terminology, and because searching their data demanded a level of skill exceeding that of many potential users.¹³⁹

To address some of these limitations on public access to federal award data, Congress enacted the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA; P.L. 109-282). The FFATA required OMB to ensure a new searchable website was established that provided the public with a single, online source of federal grant, loan, and contract data. The act also required that the new website provide specific information about each award in excess of \$25,000, including the name and location of the recipient, the amount awarded, and the purpose of the award. The FFATA also required that the website allow users to perform simple searches for award data, such as by the name of the recipient or the name of a federal agency. Other FFATA provisions required agencies to update their award data every 30 days, and to verify the accuracy of their data. The searchable website required by the FFATA, *USASpending.gov*, became operational in December 2007.

USASpending.gov is one of several websites that offer data directly to the public—before such information is requested by the public. Other websites that offer access to raw, unanalyzed datasets include Data.gov, 140 a component of the President's Open Government Initiative that serves as a centralized clearinghouse where the public can access machine-readable datasets created or used by executive branch agencies, and ITDashboard, 141 a component of USASpending.gov that aggregates data on the executive branch's information technology investments and provides tools that allow the public to manipulate and analyze the data.

Government Procurement and Transparency¹⁴²

Generally, procurement involves agencies using appropriated funds to buy the goods and services they need to carry out their missions. With the exception of procurements that entail the use of a government credit card, the most procurements involve the awarding of a contract. Initial tasks undertaken by an agency include deciding what goods and/or services to buy, choosing a suitable source selection method (e.g., sealed bidding or negotiated contracting), and drafting a solicitation which it then posts on the federal government's Federal Business Opportunities website. Using this website, a business or other interested party identifies possible contracting opportunities. Following the instructions provided in the solicitation and other related documents or publications, companies prepare and submit proposals to the appropriate agency. Agency personnel evaluate the proposals, using the evaluation factors and method described in the

. .

¹³⁹ For more information on the limitations of both FAADS and FPDS, see U.S. Congress, Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs, *Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act 2006*, report to accompany S. 2590, 109th Cong., 2nd sess., September 8, 2006, S.Rept. 109-329 (Washington: GPO, 2006), at http://www.congress.gov/cgi-lis/cpquery/R?cp109:FLD010:@1%28sr329%29.

¹⁴⁰ *Data.gov* is available at http://www.data.gov/.

¹⁴¹ ITDashboard is available at http://it.usaspending.gov/.

¹⁴² This section was written by (name redacted), Specialist in American National Government.

¹⁴³ Generally, the micro-purchase threshold is \$3,000. Under certain circumstances, which are specified in regulations, the threshold is \$2,000, \$2,500, \$15,000, or \$30,000. A micro-purchase is "an acquisition of supplies or services using simplified acquisition procedures, the aggregate amount of which does not exceed the micro-purchase threshold." (48 C.F.R. §2.101.) A government credit card is one of the simplified acquisition procedures.

solicitation, and make a source selection decision. Contract negotiations and the awarding of a contract follow.

Scholar Steven L. Schooner identifies transparency as one of nine objectives frequently associated with government procurement, and suggests that system transparency is one of the three "pillars" that underlies the federal government's procurement system. System transparency exists when "a system employs procedures by which offerors and contractors (and even the public at large) ensure that government business is conducted in an impartial and open manner. Sexamples of ways in which the federal government's procurement system maintains transparency include the following: statutes, regulations, and policies are publicized; an agency makes its requirements publicly available so that anyone may view them; every solicitation describes how offers will be evaluated; unsuccessful offerors receive contract award information (e.g., the name of the successful offeror and the amount of the award) and may receive an agency debriefing; bid protest procedures are in place and publicized; and offices of inspector general provide oversight.

Additional resources—notably websites and databases available on the Internet—that foster transparency include the System for Award Management (SAM), where current and potential government contractors register and which also contains the names of companies, individuals, and other entities that have been suspended or debarred by a federal agency; the Federal Procurement Data System (FPDS), which includes information on contract actions; and *USASpending.gov*, which is described in detail in the above section. New data collection efforts include the Federal Awardee Performance and Integrity Information System (FAPIIS) and agencies' inventories of their service contracts. FAPIIS contains information expected "to enhance the Government's ability to evaluate the business ethics and quality of prospective contractors competing for Federal contracts." Pursuant to the Supplemental Appropriations Act

1

¹⁴⁴ Steven L. Schooner, "Desiderata: Objectives for a System of Government Contract Law," George Washington University Law School, Public Law and Legal Theory Working Paper No. 37, 2002, pp. 1-2, at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=304620&http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/Data_Integrity_Notice.cfm?abid=304620. The other two pillars are procurement integrity and competition. (Ibid., p. 2.) Unless noted otherwise, all of the websites or databases mentioned in this section are available to the public.

¹⁴⁵ An offeror is a business, or other type of entity, that submits an offer (or proposal) to an agency in response to a solicitation.

¹⁴⁶ Schooner, "Desiderata: Objectives for a System of Government Contract Law," p. 5.

¹⁴⁷ For example, the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR), which is Title 48 of the Code of Federal Regulations, is available at https://www.acquisition.gov/Far/.

¹⁴⁸ Agencies post their solicitations on the government's Federal Business Opportunities (FedBizOpps) website, which is available at https://www.fbo.gov/.

¹⁴⁹ A solicitation includes evaluation factors and other pertinent information regarding the source selection process.

¹⁵⁰ See, for example, 48 C.F.R. §15.506.

¹⁵¹ The Government Accountability Office's bid protest webpage is available at http://www.gao.gov/legal/bidprotest.html.

¹⁵² Schooner, "Desiderata: Objectives for a System of Government Contract Law," pp. 6-7.

¹⁵³ U. S. Department of Defense, General Services Administration, and National Aeronautics and Space Administration, "Federal Acquisition Regulation; Public Access to the Federal Awardee Performance and Integrity Information System," 76 *Federal Register* 4189, January 24, 2011. FAPIIS contains, for example, information regarding a contractor's involvement in a civil, criminal, or administrative proceeding that occurred "in connection with the award or performance of a contract or grant with the Federal Government" and that resulted in a conviction (criminal proceeding) or "a finding of fault and liability" (civil or administrative proceeding) which meets certain criteria. (Section 872(c)(1) of P.L. 110-417.)

of 2010 (P.L. 111-112) FAPIIS was made publicly available April 15, 2011. 154 Separate statutory provisions require the Department of Defense (DOD) and civilian agencies to compile inventories of their service contracts. 155 A link to DOD's service contracts inventory is available at the Defense Procurement and Acquisition Policy website. 156 Civilian agencies' inventories are available on their respective websites. 157

Although, as described above, transparency in federal government procurement is maintained through many different mechanisms and procedures, at the same time it is tempered by other objectives and considerations. 158 Notably, exemption 4 of FOIA permits "trade secrets and commercial or financial information obtained from a person and privileged or confidential" to be exempt from disclosure. 159 Government contractors rely on this exemption to protect proprietary and confidential information—such as their cost and price data—from public disclosure. Releasing this information might compromise a government contractor's competitive position, particularly if competitors obtained the information. Concerns on the part of the private sector extend to the FAPIIS database, which could contain information that is inaccurate or misleading, or that is "easily misinterpreted by people not familiar with the intricacies of government contracting or who view a contractor's involvement in a routine business dispute as a negative reflection on its integrity, attorneys said." Turning to the government, the possibility that agencies might be required, at some future date, to post contracts online provides insight into agencies' concerns. 161 An agency's ability to negotiate contracts effectively possibly could be hampered by this proposal, unless the agency is permitted to redact certain information. ¹⁶² An

¹⁵⁴ U.S. Department of Defense, "Federal Awardee Performance Integrity and Information System," at http://www.fapiis.gov/. Initially, FAPIIS was to be available only to "appropriate acquisition officials of Federal agencies, ... other government officials as the Administrator [of General Services] determines appropriates, and, upon request to the Chairman and Ranking Member of the committees of Congress having jurisdiction," but Section 3010 of P.L. 111-21 requires all of the information, except for past performance reviews, to be made available to the public online. (Section 872(e)(1) of P.L. 110-417.)

¹⁵⁵ Section 807 of P.L. 110-181 and Section 743 of P.L. 111-117, Consolidated Appropriations Act, FY2010, respectively.

¹⁵⁶ The URL is http://www.acq.osd.mil/dpap/pacc/index.html.

¹⁵⁷ For example, see http://www.hhs.gov/grants/servicecontractsfy11.html (Department of Health and Human Services), http://www.dhs.gov/xopnbiz/regulations/editorial 0504.shtm (Department of Homeland Security), and http://csm.state.gov/content.asp?content_id=135&menu_id=71 (Department of State).

¹⁵⁸ OMB's Open Government Directive acknowledges, with the following statement, that valid reasons for placing limits on transparency exist: "With respect to information, the presumption shall be in favor of openness (to the extent permitted by law and subject to valid privacy, confidentiality, security, or other restrictions)." (Peter R. Orszag, Director, U.S. Office of Management and Budget, "Open Government Directive," memorandum M-10-06, December 8, 2009, p. 2, at http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/assets/memoranda 2010/m10-06.pdf.) 159 5 U.S.C. §552(b)(4).

¹⁶⁰ Jocelyn Allison, "Contractors Brace For Fallout From FAPIIS," no date, Portfolio Media, Inc., at http://www.mayerbrown.com/news/index.asp?nid=20&page=6&archive=Y.

¹⁶¹ On May 13, 2010, an "advance notice of proposed rulemaking" was published in the Federal Register. The notice suggested that a requirement to post contracts online might be implemented in the future. (U.S. Department of Defense, General Services Administration, and National Aeronautics and Space Administration, "Federal Acquisition Regulation: FAR Case 2009-004, Enhancing Contract Transparency," 75 Federal Register 26916-26917, May 13, 2010.) The Department of Defense, General Services Administration, and National Aeronautics and Space Administration withdrew the advance notice in February 2011. The agencies commented that they would "take into account, at a later date, [the comments and solutions provided in response to the May 2010 notice] in determining if the FAR should be amended to further enhance transparency in Government contracting." (U.S. Department of Defense, General Services Administration, and National Aeronautics and Space Administration, "Advance Notice of Proposed Rulemaking; Withdrawal," 76 Federal Register 7522, February 10, 2011.)

¹⁶² The Civilian Agency Acquisition Council and the Defense Acquisition Regulations Council "are considering how (continued...)

agency's negotiating position on the terms and conditions of a particular contract—such as the size of an award fee or the details of the delivery schedule—could be undermined if the contractor has information showing that the agency gave more favorable terms to other companies. In short, some would argue that shielding certain information from public disclosure before, during, or after the procurement process serves valid purposes and objectives.

Obama Administration's Open Government Initiative

On his first full day in office (January 21, 2009), President Barack Obama issued a memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies¹⁶³ stating that the new Administration was "committed to creating an unprecedented level of openness in government." The memorandum required the chief technology officer and the Director of OMB to issue, within 120 days, recommendations for the Open Government Directive "that instructs executive departments and agencies to take specific actions implementing the principles set forth in this memorandum." ¹⁶⁵

On December 8, 2009, Peter R. Orszag, the Director of OMB, released the "Open Government Directive" memorandum, that included more detailed instructions for departments and agencies on how to "implement the principles of transparency, participation, and collaboration." Among the initiatives in the memorandum was a requirement to give the public access to "high-value" datasets that were previously unpublished. As noted earlier, agencies were instructed to reduce their FOIA backlogs by 10% per year, until any backlog is eliminated. In addition, the memorandum required each agency to designate a "high-level senior official to be accountable for the quality and objectivity of, and internal controls over, the Federal spending information" that agencies currently provide to government websites like *USAspending.gov* and *Recovery.gov*. Each agency was also required to create an "open government plan ... that will describe how it will improve transparency and integrate public participation and collaboration into its activities." The memorandum set a series of staggered deadlines for each department and agency to comply with the new requirements.

best to review the FAR to facilitate ... posting [contracts online] without violating statutory and regulatory prohibitions against disclosing protected information belonging to the Government or contractors." (75 Federal Register 26916.)

__

^{(...}continued)

¹⁶³ Executive Office of the President, "Transparency and Open Government," 74 *Federal Register* 4685, January 26, 2009. The memorandum was released on January 21, 2009, at http://www.whitehouse.gov/the_press_office/Transparency_and_Open_Government/.

¹⁶⁴ Ibid.

¹⁶⁵ Ibid.

¹⁶⁶ Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget, *Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies: Open Government Directive*, Washington, DC, December 8, 2009, at http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/assets/memoranda_2010/m10-06.pdf. It is unclear whether online forums influenced the December 8, 2009, memorandum.

¹⁶⁷ An attachment to the memorandum provided a definition of what would qualify as a "high value data set," stating "[h]igh value information is information that can be used to increase agency accountability and responsiveness; improve public knowledge of the agency and its operations; further the core mission of the agency; create economic opportunity; or respond to need and demand as identified through public consultation." Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget, *Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies: Open Government Directive*, Washington, DC, December 8, 2009, Attachment, pp. 7-8.

¹⁶⁸ Ibid., p. 3.

¹⁶⁹ Ibid., p. 4.

The directive aims to implement the initiative's core values through four strategies:

- 1. Publish government information online.
- 2. Improve the quality of government information.
- 3. Create and institutionalize a culture of open government.
- 4. Create an enabling policy framework for open government. 170

The Open Government Directive states that "[t]ransparency promotes accountability by providing the public with information about what the government is doing."¹⁷¹ In another examination of transparency, the Administration added that "putting data online" is an essential component of transparency. 172 In its Open Government progress report, the Administration said "[d]emocratizing data reduces cost and eliminates waste, fraud, and abuse; creates new jobs and businesses, and improves people's daily lives." ¹⁷³

According to OMB, nearly every agency met each directive requirement. ¹⁷⁴ Private sector reviews of the open government initiative, however, argue that agencies met the requirements with varying levels of diligence. Some agencies released thousands of datasets and created userfriendly websites, while others released minor datasets and appeared to make little attempt to create websites that offered easy access to information. 175

The Administration and Smart Disclosure

On September 8, 2011, the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) released a memorandum to agency and department heads entitled "Informing Consumers through Smart Disclosure." ¹⁷⁶ In the memorandum, ¹⁷⁷ smart disclosure was defined as "the timely release of complex information" and data in standardized, machine readable formats ... that enable consumers to make informed decisions." The memorandum continued that smart disclosure requires that data are accessible, machine readable, ¹⁷⁸ standardized, ¹⁷⁹ timely, adaptive to markets and innovation, ¹⁸⁰ interoperable, ¹⁸¹ and protective of individuals' privacy. ¹⁸²

¹⁷⁰ Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget, *Memorandum for the Heads of Executive* Departments and Agencies: Open Government Directive, Washington, DC, December 8, 2009.

¹⁷² Executive Office of the President. Open Government: A Progress Report to the American People. December 2009.

¹⁷³ Ibid. It is unclear from the progress report how transparency creates new jobs. It is also unclear whether such jobs would be public or private sector positions.

¹⁷⁴ For OMB ratings of agency response to the OGD, see The White House, "Open Government Initiative: Around the Government," at http://www.whitehouse.gov/open/around.

¹⁷⁵ One private entity's examination of the OGD was OMB Watch's, "Leaders and Laggards in Agency Open Government Webpages," February 23, 2010, at http://www.ombwatch.org/node/10785/.

¹⁷⁶ Cass R. Sunstein, *Informing Consumers through Smart Disclosure*, Office of Management and Budget, Washington, DC, September 8, 2011, http://www.detroitnews.com/article/20090221/AUTO01/902210372/1148. ¹⁷⁷ Ibid., p. 2.

¹⁷⁸ Pursuant to the memorandum, machine readable means the data are "stored in a format enabling the information to be process and analyzed by computer," for example, formats that could be "readily imported into spreadsheet and database applications." Ibid., p. 5.

¹⁷⁹ Pursuant to the memorandum, standardization requires that information "be available in standardized vocabularies (continued...)

The Evolution of Transparency in the Federal Government and Its Potential Effects on Access and Participation

Public access to government information and operations has changed over time. Information access is only a part of what may be referred to as transparency. As federal statutes and initiatives have been implemented over time—from the Federal Register Act of 1935 to the Obama Administration's Open Government Initiative of 2009—the tools and skills needed for the public to not only *access*, but also *understand* and *use* federal information and data have evolved.

Access to and use of government information may permit the public to make more informed decisions about factors that could affect their lives. ¹⁸³ For example, parents may make more informed decisions on which child safety seat to purchase using data from the National Traffic Highway Safety Administration. In another example, residents may learn more about the air and water quality in their neighborhoods using the Environmental Protection Agency's *My Environment* website. ¹⁸⁴ This acquired knowledge can further be used to help shape and form policy debates, such as through participation in civic organizations or voting.

Although access can contribute to a more informed citizenry, the constitutionally-established structure of the U.S. government authorizes federal officials, not the public, to determine and execute federal policy. America's federal government is a representative democracy, which means that the people elect officials who are then authorized (by virtue of being elected) to enact laws and make policy choices. James Madison, in *Federalist 10*, describes the differences between a *republic*, or representative democracy, and a "direct democracy":

The two great points of difference between a democracy and a republic are: first, the delegation of the government, in the latter, to a small number of citizens elected by the rest; secondly, the greater number of citizens, and greater sphere of country, over which the latter may be extended.

The effect of the first difference is, on the one hand, to refine and enlarge the public views, by passing them through the medium of a chosen body of citizens, whose wisdom may best discern the true interest of their country, and whose patriotism and love of justice will be least likely to sacrifice it to temporary or partial considerations. Under such a regulation, it

,

^{(...}continued)

and formats ... that allow for meaningful comparisons and other analyses across datasets." Ibid.

¹⁸⁰ Pursuant to the memorandum, market adaptation and innovation would require agencies to "periodically consult with user communities ... to review and adapt smart disclosure regimes so that the information conveyed remains accurate and relevant." Ibid. p. 6.

¹⁸¹ Pursuant to the memorandum, interoperable means that the data are more valuable if they "can be linked to other sources of data" through "common identifiers … using consistent vocabulary." Ibid.

¹⁸² Ibid, pp. 5-6.

¹⁸³ Archon Fung, Mary Graham, and David Weil, *Full Disclosure: The Perils and Promise of Transparency* (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2007), p. 40.

¹⁸⁴ See National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, "Child Safety," at http://www.nhtsa.gov/Safety/CPS; National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, "National Weather Service," at http://www.weather.gov/; and Environmental Protection Agency, "My Environment," at http://www.epa.gov/myenvironment/.

may well happen that the public voice, pronounced by the representatives of the people, will be more consonant to the public good than if pronounced by the people themselves, convened for the purpose. 185

In a representative democracy, elected officials are to collect the preferences of their constituents as a basis for lawmaking, oversight, and policymaking. These preferences may contribute to or determine the decisions of a federal official. These preferences may contribute to or determine the decisions of a federal official.

Transparency laws may allow the public to access and better understand the decisions made by elected officials and federal employees. Certain other transparency-related laws formalize methods for the public to participate in the policymaking process. But in a representative democracy, federal officials must perform the functions of government. Transparency allows the public to better determine whether elected officials are properly and appropriately performing their elected or appointed tasks. Transparency does not replace the duties and functions of federal officials or federal employees. Instead, transparency, if operationalized effectively, may aid interested publics to hold the federal government more accountable for its actions or inactions.

The Federal Register and Administrative Procedure Act Formalize Access

The Federal Register Act (FRA) and the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), for example, give the public an opportunity to follow and participate in the regulatory process. The APA formalized the public's authority to comment on and legally challenge federal regulations. The FRA and the APA each provide formal mechanisms for the public to access the daily operations of federal government, to participate in certain policymaking procedures, and to challenge any policy choices in court. To become a participant, however, one needs to know how and where to access the *Federal Register*, the *Code of Federal Regulations*, *Federal Register.gov*, or *Regulations.gov*.

Although these acts provide the public greater access to government information and operations, the federal government retains considerable control over what information becomes publicly available, when information becomes available, and at what point the public can participate in the policymaking process. The public, for example, generally may be unable to formally participate in the policymaking process prior to an agency first publishing a proposed rule in the *Federal Register*.

_

¹⁸⁵ Publius (James Madison), "The Federalist Papers, The Federalist No. 10," *Independent Journal*, November 22, 1787, at http://www.constitution.org/fed/federa10.htm.

Rosenstone and Hansen provide an excellent demographic survey of who is more likely to participate in politics and how that participation can affect public policy. Steven J. Rosenstone and John Mark Hansen, *Mobilization*,
 Participation, and Democracy in America (New York: Pearson Education, Inc., 2003). See also, Richard F. Fenno Jr.,
 Home Style: House Members in Their Districts (New York: Addison-Wesley Educational Publishers Inc., 2003).
 See Mobilization, Participation, and Democracy in America. See also, Robert A. Dahl, Who Governs? (New Haven,

CT: Yale University Press, 1961).

The Freedom of Information Act and Post Hoc Access to Information

Like the FRA and the APA, FOIA provides access to information only after a record of activity is created. FOIA does not allow the public to participate—in real time—in the policymaking process. Instead, it provides individuals with post-hoc access to information by allowing the public to retrace policymaking histories. For FOIA to be an effective tool of transparency, FOIA requesters must know how to properly write and direct a FOIA request to the appropriate agency. Requesters who do not receive their requested materials may choose to challenge an agency's withholding administratively or in court. If so, the requester may need additional knowledge about FOIA's exemptions and case law that may support or oppose the withholding.¹⁸⁸

The Federal Advisory Committee Act and Direct Participation

FACA offers the public a direct avenue for participation in the formulation of public policy. Private citizens and representatives of particular interests can serve on advisory committees, provided the committee is required to adhere to FACA's requirements. The public is provided access to FACA committee meetings and records. FACA prohibits committees from performing any function outside of advising—FACA committees may not implement any of their recommendations and they cannot require the federal government to implement the recommendations. In all cases, a federal officer must determine whether to implement FACA recommendations.

Although FACA allows public participation in the policymaking process, it still requires the public to attend meetings, which may be difficult or impossible for those who do not live in the area where a committee meeting is held. FACA also provides post-hoc access to government information, because a member of the public who is unable to attend the meeting can access meeting records after it takes place. In some cases, federal agencies may be using new technology to make meetings and records more accessible. For example, some agencies place committee records online and make audio or video recordings of the meetings available online. Additionally some departments or agencies, including Health and Human Services, webcast meetings and permit online audience members to submit questions to committees in real time. ¹⁹¹

.

¹⁸⁸ For information and guidance on how a member of the public can use FOIA, the House Committee on Oversight and Government reform published a citizen's guide to using the Freedom of Information Act. See U.S. Congress, House Committee on Government Reform, *A Citizen's Guide on Using the Freedom of Information Act and the Privacy Act of 1974 to Request Government Records*, 112th Cong., 2nd sess., September 20, 2012, at http://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/Citizens-Guide-on-Using-FOIA.2012.pdf.

¹⁸⁹ FACA requires that at least one member of the committee not be a full- or part-time employee or officer of the federal government. (5 U.S.C. Appendix §3).

¹⁹⁰ These barriers to participation may be reduced as advisory bodies adopt new technologies, like streaming their meetings online in real time.

¹⁹¹ Department of Health and Human Services, "Health Information Technology," at http://healthit.hhs.gov/portal/server.pt/community/healthit hhs gov policy meetings/1813.

The Open Government Directive and Attempts at Proactive Transparency

More recent government actions have adopted a more proactive form of transparency. As noted above, the Open Government Directive requires agencies to release a variety of new datasets to the public before they are requested. With a multitude of new datasets and other information available to the public, the Obama Administration has stated it will be the duty of the public to keep agency performance in check. This "crowdsourcing," or using the collective opinions of a mass, online audience, may improve the quality of data that are released to the public by allowing more people to search through datasets. On *Data.gov*, for example, users can rate datasets using a five-star scale. Moreover, users can click a link to "Contact Dataset Owner" and send the administrator of the data an e-mail with thoughts or comments on the data. The public can also "flag" the dataset for one of five reasons: copyright violation, offensive content, spam or junk, personal information, or other. Individuals who contact agencies are asked to provide their e-mail so they may receive a response from the contact point. It is unclear whether agencies are required to respond to comments.

Crowdsourcing may improve data and operations, but only for agencies that read and respond to comments and suggestions. ¹⁹⁶ Additionally, agencies need to make clear whether the data that are made available are complete and list their limitations. The federal datasets may also provide opportunity for nonpartisan scholars to access and analyze datasets and create new tools to help the public better understand how government operates and provide oversight of federal data creation. Crowdsourcing, however, may give those members of the public with more time and resources more opportunity to review and analyze federal data.

Releasing these datasets to the public also assumes that the public will have the knowledge, capacity, and resources to evaluate the data, offer valid insights, and reach replicable results and verifiable conclusions. Inadvertent or purposeful manipulation of the datasets may allow certain groups or individuals to present unclear or skewed interpretations of government datasets, or reach questionable conclusions. As agencies release hundreds or thousands of datasets, users may need specialized knowledge to identify appropriate datasets to meet their needs. Counterintuitively, this releasing of datasets may decrease executive branch transparency. For example, users may have to sift through thousands of datasets to determine which ones include the information they seek. It may be difficult for a researcher to pinpoint the dataset he or she needs in a collection of similarly titled datasets. Other data may be made available in a format

. .

¹⁹² The three high value datasets that were to be published on January 22, 2009, were made available via *Data.gov*. The directive also discusses the use of other public venues for government data, including *USASpending.gov* and *Recovery.gov*.

¹⁹³ At a December 10, 2009, Senate Budget Committee Task Force on Government Performance hearing, both the federal CIO (then-Vivek Kundra) and the federal CTO (then-Aneesh Chopra) said that watch dog groups and members of the public would enforce agency accountability. U.S. Congress, Senate Committee on the Budget, Task Force on Government Performance, *Data-Driven Performance: Using Technology to Deliver Results*, 111th Cong., 1st sess., December 10, 2009, http://www.senate.gov/fplayers/CommPlayer/commFlashPlayer.cfm?fn=budget121009&st=1005.

¹⁹⁴ See, for example, *Data.gov* Active Duty Marital Status, at http://explore.data.gov/Population/Active-Duty-Marital-Status/r84k-m39h.

¹⁹⁵ Ibid

¹⁹⁶ Pursuant to the Open Government Initiative, agencies are required to respond to public input electronically received via their open government websites. As noted earlier, however, agencies have responded to the Open Government Initiative's directives with varying diligence.

with which a researcher is unfamiliar. Making the data public without explicit user guidance does not necessarily make the data more accessible.

The Administration's focus on so-called "smart disclosure" may allow a greater proportion of the public to both access and use federal data and information. The guidance does not require agencies to employ smart disclosure strategies, but may encourage agencies to identify and consider methods of releasing data and records in ways that are timely and comprehensible. Congress may consider whether agencies should be required to implement certain smart disclosure strategies. Oversight of the implementation of smart disclosure strategies, however, could be difficult. Members of Congress may not be familiar with each of the vast amount of datasets held by each agency, nor may they be aware of unique sensitivities of these data. Additionally, there may be significant costs associated with adapting certain datasets and vernacular to more standardized and accessible formats.

Policymaking, Outside Influence, and Public Participation

Congress or the public may also have concerns about both the abilities and the affiliations of those who access government data, comment on federal regulations, or participate in federal government meetings. Most public participation may come from special interest groups that have the time, resources, and knowledge to engage with federal agencies. Using websites and other technology to solicit public opinion may, therefore, strengthen relationships between certain individuals or organizations and federal agencies—granting certain participants greater and faster access to policymakers.

Congress may believe that executive branch policymakers should be more insulated from organized, sometimes partisan interests. Scholars have found that lawmakers play a significant role in creating or limiting the opportunities that private organizations have in accessing administrative agencies. Yet other scholars have found that attempts to insulate policymakers may result in restricted access for less-organized, smaller private organizations, while the wealthier, larger groups maintain access. 199

Collaboration with the public may generate new ideas that could promote cost savings, assist in the distribution of benefits, or make the federal government more effective. Scholars have noted that public access to federal records and meetings may also provide oversight of the administrative process and increase "bureaucratic accountability." Congress may decide that the federal government already provides the proper amount of formalized access to administrative agencies, and that private organizations are provided the proper amount of access to

 ¹⁹⁷ For information on laws, regulations, or other requirements related to lobbying the executive branch, see CRS
 Report R40947, *Lobbying the Executive Branch: Current Practices and Options for Change*, by (name redacted).
 ¹⁹⁸ See, for example, Steven J. Balla and John R. Wright, "Interest Groups, Advisory Committees, and Congressional

Control of the Bureaucracy" *American Journal of Political Science*, vol. 45 no. 4 (October 2001), pp. 799-812, which examines congressional control of advisory committees that include members from the public. Jonathan R. Macey argues that Congress can control access to administrative agencies by how they choose to organize them. See "Organizational Design and Political Control of Administrative Agencies," *Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization*, vol. 8 no. 1 (March 1992), pp. 93-125.

¹⁹⁹ Christopher M. Reenock and Brian J. Gerber, "Political Insulation, Information Exchange, and Interest Group Access to the Bureaucracy," *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, vol. 18, no. 3 (2008), pp. 415-440. ²⁰⁰ Ibid., p 416.

policymakers. As noted throughout this report, the public has opportunities to participate in the regulatory process, to access certain federal records, and to attend certain public meetings. Many times, however, these opportunities come only *after* the federal government makes a formal proposal or takes formal action. Additionally, these opportunities require the public to have the time and resources to ask for records or attend meetings.

Limiting public access to public records or agency meetings during the policymaking process could increase the influence of groups that have the greatest resources while alienating groups that may have interesting policy ideas but few resources. Conversely, limiting access could provide policymakers the opportunity to work more efficiently and without as much partisan influence. As noted above, however, limiting access would not provide all opinions equal access to the policymaking process and could curtail public oversight of the administrative processes of the federal government. Increasing access to various aspects of the policymaking process could lengthen certain administrative processes, like the regulatory process, the operations of advisory committees, or federal contracting. Increasing access could also distort the design of a representative democracy by diminishing the role of the elected official "to refine and enlarge the public views."

Author Contact Information

(name redacted)

Analyst in American National Government [redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

(name redacted)

Analyst in Government Organization and

Management

[redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

(name redacted)

Specialist in American National Government

[redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

(name redacted)

Analyst in American Federalism and Emergency

Management Policy

[redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

Acknowledgments

This table provides the names and contact information for the Congressional Research Service's subject matter expert for the topics addressed in this report.

Key Policy Staff

Area of Expertise	Name	Phone E-mail
Records and Meeting Access	(name redacted)	7redacted-@crs.loc.gov
Federal Rulemaking	(name redacted)	7redacted-@crs.loc.gov
Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA)	(name redacted)	7redacted-@crs.loc.gov
Procurement	(name edacted)	7rredacted-@crs.loc.gov

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.